

0	TABLE OF CONTENTS	
	Name	Page
	Poem—Clear Lake Geography of Lake County The Formation of Clear Lake Climate Mt. Konocti and the Lakes	5
Second Edition 1937 Copyright, 1936	OUR VALLEYS IN TO OF THE INDIA	INS
Nutl Levis Descore Cora Beenso Nutshallie Firigrand First and Second Editions printed by Kelseyille High School Revised Edition, 1949, Printed by Press Democrat, Santa Rosa	The Pono Indians Ponor Folkways Closhing and Ornaments Dwellings Occupations Indian Names The Sweal House The Sweal House The Sweal House The Winter Food Supply for the Indian The Spanish in Lake County The Winter Food Supply for the Indian The Enginesh in Lake County The Winter Food Supply for the Indian The Burnish in Lake County The Massacre of Stone and Kelsey The Punishment of the Indians ERARY SETTLES	1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1
	The Arrival of the First White Family, The First Lake County Romance. The First Home Near Kelsywile Life in the New Country. Upper Lake. Going to the Store and Post-office. The Rock Mill Lakeport Beginning the Kelseyville Community. Lower Lake. Middletown	26 27 27 28 33 34 35 36 38 38 44 41

81	(
	- 1
GROWTH OF THE COUNTY	
Name	
The Beginning of Lake County	
The Lost Money 47 Chapman's Fisco 48	~
Chapman's Fiasco	
The Dam in Cache Creek	
Tearing Out the Dam	
Stories About Early Roads	
Boats	
Schools	
The Mountain Institute	-
58	
RESOURCES AND INDUSTRIES	
Chair Making	
Mines and Mining	
Great Western Mine	
Lumbering	
Mineral Springs and Summer Resorts 65	
Borax Lake	
Pioneer Crops	
A Story About String Beans	
Early Orchards	
Walnuts in Lake County 69	
Lake County Pears	
Prunes and Other Fruits	
INDIAN LEGENDS	
The Woman Who Turned to Stone	
The Battle of the Giants	
How the Rocks Came 10 Be All Over the World	
The Legend of the Griffin	
Legend of the White Fawn	
The Legend of the Horse	
The Turning of Kelsey Creek	
Indian Gold	
Indian Lucy	
The Spring Ceremonial	
Agriculture Facts	
Mining	
Reference List	

# CLEAR LAKE

When the Red Men first here came, They asked the Spirit for a name: Came the answer from within, "Call these water Kabatin— Where the mountains touch the sky Let the name be Konocci, Where the straits until the three, Call that place Ko-no-tay-ee; Where the next with fishes swell, Let that place be called Ka-bell." But the white men, grone to take, Called the waters all—Clear Lake; They should be as they were then, They should be as they were then.

# GEOGRAPHY OF LAKE COUNTY

Let us take an airplane trip over Lake County, the territory firs included in the northern district of California and then as the northern portion of Napa County. We rise swiftly and circle higher until, as we look down, we can see the entire county spread out before us.

This district seems to be made up chiefly of many hills and mountains with a few valleys lying among them. It has frequently been called the "Walled-In" county because of its surrounding hills. We can even see the silver threads of the creeks that flow through these valleys. From ou height the lakes look like sheets of silver.

Almost in the center of the county is the largest of the lakes. It is now twenty-three miles long and from one to eight miles in width. The Indiar name for the lake was Hok-has-ha. But the White man called it Clear Lake and you will find that name on your maps. Note also the peculiar shape of the lake. The narrowest part is known as "The Narrows" and from there to Soda Bay is the deepest part of the lake, with a maximum depth of fifty feet. The lake empties into Cache Creek near Lower Lake and there is some very interesting history about that section.

As we look down from our height, Clear Lake looks like a jewel one might hold in his hand, and Blue Lakes farther north resembles part of a string of beads dropped among the hills.

Blue Lakes derive their name from the beautiful blue of their waters, which are so clear and so deep that the color is pure.

There are two of these lakes but the upper one has the two sections thus giving the impression that there were three. The upper one is a mile and a half long and from one-fourth to one-half mile in width. The other is perhaps a half mile long and one-fourth of a mile wide. Below these lies Laurel Dell Lake, which is rather muddy looking. It is the smaller of the Chain, being but a fourth of a mile in length and a little less in width. It is only about twenty-two feet deep. These lakes have their outlet through Scott's Creek and Clear Lake.

There are two other very interesting lakes. They lie quite close to Clear Lake, one on the east side and one on the south. The one on the east side is about a mile and a half long by a half mile in width and is known as Big Borax. The other one on the south lies close to the foot of Mount Konocti and is circular in shape. It is about a fourth of a mile in diameter and is known as Little Borax.

All of these lakes are level with the floor of the valleys, about 1325 feet above sea level. There is a lake that is interesting because it is much higher than this. Boggs Lake lies high on the side of Mount Hannah near Cobb Valley. It is nearly a mile across and pine trees grow to the water's edge. In very cold winters it is frozen over with ice thick enough to skate

In the winter time there was another lake about half way between Blue Lakes and Clear Lake. Scotts Creek overflows its banks and forms a lake about them ends long by three-fourths of a mile wide. It is not depended to the state of the stat

not travel through it without first cutting a trail.

Here is alist of the mountains in order of their height:
Snow Mountain... 7,800 feet above seal evel
Hull Mountain... 7,000 ''' ''
San Hedron ... 6,500 ''' ''
San Hedron ... 6,500 ''' ''
St. Helena ... 4,400 ''' '''
Konocti ... 4,200 ''' '''

Snow Mountain gets its name because of the fact that it is white with snow throughout most of the winter. It is a big mountain and very rough. Hull Mountain, San Hedron, St. Helena and Cobb are equally rough to climb and have many bushes and trees.

climb and have many bushes and trees.

There is one mountain more interesting than the rest. Artists have painted picture of it, and one cannot pass through Lake County without seeing it. It rises abruptly 2,890 feet above Clear Lake. Near the top was one a clear space in adapte resmulties that the contract of the co

If we circle over the mountains again and count the valleys carefully we find nine of them over five miles long and fourteen smaller ones. Some

of the smaller ones are not much more than a mile long.

In Big Valley, The largest of the valleys in Big Valley, The Indian narwas To-Ka-Ko, which means "a big valley," If less on the southweste
which Lakeport is near the northerne and of the valley and Kelseyville ne
which Lakeport is near the northerne and of the valley and Kelseyville ne
the southern end. Adobe, Kelsey, and Christie Creeks carry the surpli
water into Clear Lake. The soil is very rich and pratically the entire valle
is now under cultivation. In the early days people tried raising differer
crops.

crops.

2. Scotts Valley. Scotts Valley lies just across a low divide north o Lakeport. It extends to Blue Lakes and is more than ten miles long and i from one-half to three miles in width. It too, is a very fertile valley. Scott Creek flows through its entire length.

3. Morgan Valley. Another valley that is about the same length bu averaging only a mile in width is Morgan Valley. This is about twell miles southeast of Lower Lake. It is made up of low rolling hills and i better adapted to grazing than to extensive cultivation. Hunting Cree flows through this valley.

better adapted to grazing than to extensive cultivation. Hunting Cree flows through this valley,

4. Loconoma Valley, Loconoma Valley is the name given to that on in which Middlewown is located. It is about ten miles from the foot of MS 1. Helena to the foot of Cobb Mountain. St. Helena Creek flows through this valley and employe into Petal Creek north of Middleworn. Booth read of Clear Lake and is about eight miles long and from one to five mile wide, Clower Creek flows through it and emplois into Sotts Creek.

6. Coyote Valley. Coyote Valley is a beautiful place about ten miles tong and from one to six miles in which the company of the compa

11. Cobb Dicy. Cobb Valley is a most interesting little valley. It is only about four miles long and from a half to one mile wide. But it lies high on the north side of Cobb Mountain and has more snow and rain than any of the other valleys unless is the Gravelly and those small valleys nearby. Cobb Creek is really the headwaters of Ketsy Creek.

12. Gravelly Valley, Gravelly Valley is about the same size as Cobb Valley, but is in the very northwest corner of Lake County on the headwaters of the Ed River. Its name describes it very well, for when the winter rains come they leave the entire valley strewn with gravel and debris.

debris.

13. Clover Valley, Clover Valley lies east of Upper Lake Valley, We pass into it through a gap where Clover Creek comes through, Clover Creek gives the valley its name. The valley extends to the foot of mountains on the old road to Bartlett Springs and is three miles long by half a mile wide.

nair a mile wide.

14. Burns Valley. Burns Valley is different in shape from the other valleys. It is circular and is about three miles in diameter, It lies northeast of Lower Lake and comes to the margin of the lake at the Lower Lake landing.

landing.

There are two valleys that are usually mentioned to the Meritage and Jericho.

15. Jerusalem Valley, Jerusalem is the larger and lies about fourteen miles south of Lower Lake, just south of Morgan Valley, It is about two miles long and half a mile wide. The creek that flows through it is known as Jerusalem Creek.

as acrusaem Creek.

16. Jerisch Valley. The other Valley, Jerischo, is smaller and lies very close to Jerusalem Valley on the west.

There are two other valleys with similar names but they lie some distance apart.

intere are two order valuelys with similar names but they le some distance apart.

1. High Valley, High Valley lies in the mountains north of East Lake I will be some by a half a mile in width. It is almost paralled with Low Valley and the some by a half a mile in width. It is almost paralled with Low Valley. Little High Valley ought to be close but it is not. It is four miles count for Lower Lake and it a hout one and a half miles long and three-fourths of a mile wide.

19. Denovan Valley, Donovan Valley is about the same size as Little High Valley and lies up in the mountains just west of Big Valley.

20. Paradies Valley. Paradies Valley is about the same size as Little High Valley and lies up in the mountains just west of Big Valley.

20. Paradies Valley. Paradies Valley is a worn smaller and lies on the east shore of Clear Lake opposite Mt. Konocci.

Near Gravelly Valley are four other small valleys:

( ) 22. Rice Valley. 23 and 24. Twin Valleys. There are, of course, some interesting history stories connected with every one of these places.

THE FORMATION OF CLEAR LAKE

THE FORMATION OF CLEAR LAKE

This story was written for us by a State Minorologist in his report for 1933 in the "California Journal of Mines and Geology."

Clear Lake is the chief of all landside lakes in California. Long before there was a lake, a plain about twenty-five miles long from northwest to the south and fifteen miles in greatest width was drained by move overflowing isterna, the divide between which may have been low to overflowing isterna, the divide between which may have been low or of these streams, Cold Creek, had out a deep porge westward, through an endosing range, to the Russian River, which led to the Pacific Ocean, fifty-five miles north of the Golden Gate. The other, Cache Creek, and out a longer and deeper gorge eastward through the opposite range which led to the Sacramento and thus to the San Francisco Bay.

After a time the eastern stream was crossed near its owner antenna.

which led to the Scanmento and thus to the San Francisco Bayn, which led to the Scanmento and thus to the San Francisco Bayn, and which led to the Scanmento and thus to the San Francisco Bayn, and its headwaters were diverted to the western stream and laws flow, and its headwaters were diverted to the western stream, and the san the san Bayn from the southern side of the western group rear is middlength, filled it up for a mile or more to a higher lever than that of the flow of laws near the basin, shortly one by the streams that flowed into the standard standard

of the plain until if flowed across a sag in the law flow.

The overflowing stream cut a renth (called Redbank Gorge) across the flow and this lowered the lake about sixty feet below its highest level. The water and through the eastern gope to Cache Creek.

The lake now stands at an altitude of 1310 feet with a size of about nineten by eight miles. The narrow eastern arms are separated from the main body at the pictureque Narrows.

Had there been no outlet toward the east, the lake would probably have risen until it overflowed the landslide in the west and would have washed away most of it centuries ago, thus draining away the lake and which was the same of the control of

of Scotts Creeks, hich entered it from the south. Its short remainder is now divided by the combined deltas of two wet-weather side streams, thus forming the picturesque Blue Lakes, beautifully enclosed by the steep sides of the gorge. These lakelets belong in the class of lakes, the basins of which are barred by deltas.

which are barred by deltas.

Clear Lake was modified artificially twenty years ago by the building of a thirty-foot dam at the entrance to the eastern gorge and by the balsting out of a rocky barrier a few feet greater depth near the entrance of object of storing greater water rock mough the base barrier, with the object of storing greater water rock mough the base barrier, with the object of storing greater water rock mough the base barrier, with the object of storing greater water rock mough the base manner. Because of these changes the lake surface usually stands a few feet below the level of the shore beachest that were formed before the changes were made. The moderate rainfall of the region, twenty-five to thirty inches, does not supply the inflowing streams with much more water than is lost by evaporation, fifty-three inches in a year, from the lake surface, and therefore the outflow for irrigations to usually small.

### CLIMATE

CLIMATE

In the winter season the weather in Lake County is sometimes quite cold and snow falls occasionally in the valleys. The lake, which in the summer is very peaceful-looking, is, now Often stretted by a storm, into a mass of white caps. There is seldom a storm in winter that does not whiten the summit of Cobb Mountain, but it does not remain cold for ally heapth of time and the snow is never heavy enough to harm the sheep or cattle on the ranges.

or time and the snow is never heavy enough to harm the sheep or cattle on the ranges.

In the spring of the year the grass begins to change to a carget of velvety-green and many flowers and do to re the peiture. The skie seldom the spring the state of the state of

Comportable.

Heavy winds blow only in the Fall or Spring and there are few foggy days in the year. The rainy season begins in October and lasts until late in May.

MOUNT KONOCTI AND THE LAKE Mt. Konocti, standing like a sentinel on the shore of C was of great interest to the Indians before any history was w many of the legends are centered around the grand old mount had many stories of the rocky markings on it.

had many stories of the rocky markings on it.

Some of the triber regarded the mountain as sacred and only their prophets were allowed to set foot on it. Indians still delight in telling of underground lakes inhibited by eyeless fish.

The white people have found it no less interesting, and in turn regard as mountain of the start of the star

The mouseass are the killing of the white men, occasional punish the Indians after the killing of the white men, occasional that people preferred the old Indian name, Konota. The queer thing about this great pile of earth is that no streams flow from it, but it takes up all of the rainfall as if it were a hugh spoage. No well of water can be obtained on it surface, so we are led to believe that there may be able under a surface, in the case to be level with the many be able under the object of the surface, and the object of the water of the object of the surface of the object of the surface of the object of the surface of the object of th

R VALLEYS IN THE DAYS

THE POMO INDIANS

THE POMO INDIANS

There were hundreds of Indians in the county when the white men came. Pomo was the big family name for all. Different tribes of this family would put another name with that one to show which tribe was which. Some were Ki Pomos-others Cahto Pomos.

They were not tall as few ever measured over five feet and eight inches in height and they were darker than the Indians from farther north, with black, deepe etc., heavy cybrows, large mouths, and fine white teeth, which is the second tribe to the desired to the count and brought back from the stores of the coean their supplies of salt which they had dug out of the hollows in the rocks where the ocean water had washed up and then dried away leaving good clean salt. They also packed home compared to the county of th

made a good trail all the way to the ocean.

The houses they lived in were made of tules woven together with a hole at the top to let the smoke escape. We are told that they were thatched and well-built. Their doorways were only three feet high so that anyone had to storo to go through Ferhaps the small doors were easier to cover when bad weather anner. They never built beneath trees because they were straid of falling limbs.

They were good fishermen and hunters and they built houses and boats and manufactured fish-traps and fish baskets. All the baskets, except fish baskets, were made by the women.

except fish baskets, were made by the women.

Acorns were gathered by the women, including the chief's wife, who was not excused from the ordinary work others had to do. They had an interesting way of making bread of pinels, as they called it. First they ground the acorns with stones and soaked them for reveral days, then they then they are considered to the contract of the contr

sand.

Sometimes they washed their clothes in the lake near by and visited with their friends. No doubt they told each other about the many strange customs of the white people on the outside.

When their cakes were dry they washed off the sand. Sometimes they pounded in anise seed for spice and flavoring. You may be sure they

learned to like wheat after the white men began to grow it Much of their food was eaten uncooked because they had so cooking dishes. Their knives were sharp-edged stones. Their stoves heated stones, and baskets were very useful to them.

heated stones, and baskets were very useful to them.

Nest for fish or for snaring waterfowl were made by only a few skilled workmen. A net usually was owned by from five to ten men aithough the village was invited to share in the catch. Every man find and and charms were used to help was the property of the set, about one hundred and fifty parts using between two balsas or boats. Arrow-making was the special trade of a few men. They knew how to be the set of the set o

name means standing natured."

The Big Valley and Lower Lake Indians traveled to this village by beat as they were afraid of the bears on land. They bought the arrows for forty clamshell beads, valued at about twenty-five cents. Sussally the buyer took fifty or sixty arrows at once. Boss were not made but were bought from the Long Valley Patwin Indians who obtained them from the people who lived to the northeast. They cost two hundred clam-shell beads.

beads.
Food was not sold but was given away. "Wild stuff" should not be sold according to the rules of the Pomos. Only manufactured articles such as deerskins, rabbit skin blankets, and baskets were sold.

successanis, rauori skin tolankets, and baskets were sold.

A chiefrain was not always, chosen to take his father's place. He had to have certain qualities of "goodness of heart," ability to speak well and sometimes they required an ano for wealth. One man was not acception his father's office because he was quarretsome and he could not make speeches.

ms satisfies a unite occasion ne was quarretsome and he could not make
Mateo was the name of the Chief of the Kamdot tribe on Buckingham
island. He followed his father as chieftain and held the place of
that. He said to his people, "work, do not stead, do not fight, do not
become angry," work, do not stead, do not fight, do not
that. He said to his people, "work, do not stead, do not fight, do not
that the said to his people, "work, do not stead, be not fight, do not
that the said to his people, "work, do not stead, so not fight, do not
that the said to his people, "work, do not stead, so not fight, do not
that the said to his people, "work, do not stead, so not fight the said to his people," work, do not stead, so not stead to the said to his people, "work, do not stead, so not stead to the said to his people, "work, do not stead, so not stead to the stead to the said to his people," work, do not stead, so not stead to the said to his people, "work, do not stead, so not stead to the said to his people," work, do not stead, so not stead to the said to his people, "work, do not stead, so not stead to the said to his people," work, and the said to his people, "work, and not stead to the said to his people," work, and not stead to the said to his people, "work, and not stead to the said to his people," work, and not stead to the said to his people, "work, and not stead to the said to his people," work, and not stead to the said to his people, "work, and not stead to his people," work, and not stead to his people, "work, and not stead to his people," work, and not stead to his people, "work, and not stead to his people," work, and not stead to his people, "work, and not stead to his people," work, and not stead to his people, "work, and not stead to his people," work, and not stead to his people, "work, and not stead to his people," work, and his people, "work, and his people," w

that. He said to his people, "work, do not steal, do not fight, do not become angry."

When the white men trained the Indians to be vaqueros or cow-boys, they found them strong, active and trustworthy. If the white men were fair the Indians were honest and did good work.

Their arrows and spears were made of obsidian, a kind of rock that looks like black glass. Great quantities of this is still found near Mr. foots like black glass. Great quantities of this is still found near Mr. foots all the black glass. When the still the still found and boret means the still found all over teams. These are still found all over teams. These are still found all over teams.

-7-

time and labou, it the Indians had plenty of time and they needed the sharp points so much that they had to do the work to get them.

After sheep were brought in by the Spanish settlers they were able to get coarse wool which they made into blankets without spinning it or weaving with looms. They twisted the threads with their fingers and stretched the warp on wooden pest given into the ground and filled in with threads put in one at a time by hand. These blankets must have given them much confort in 60d weather.

them much comfort in cold weather.

Their only way of crossing the streams was by the use of rafts built of bundles of tules tied together.

Many Indians believed that if they had lived good lives their spirits would travel west, after their death, to a place where the earth and sky changed into a grizzley bear or his pair one had been bad be would be changed into a grizzley bear or his hearts of good chiefs went up to the sky, and were changed into stars to be expeasable over their tribes on earth.

Konocit was a holy mountain and no one but a priest of the tribe dozen.

They were affected for the grizzle bear or his tribes to earth.

careet to go up.

They were afraid of the grizzley bear and would not eat its meat.

Four times a year each tribe gathered for great dances that meant something religious to them. If anyone laughed during these dances he must lay down a forfeit near a pole set up in the center.

Their waterproof baskets were often made of wire grass. The men used cone-shaped "buddle" baskets for fishing. These were made with a hole in the top large enough for a man's hand to go through. They were placed here and there in the water and the Indians waded about watching for a fish to begin flapping about under a basket, then they resched through the hole and caught the fish with their hands.

Of all the Indians in North and South America the Pomos of Lake County have always made the best baskets. Indian Lucy, a weaver of baskets, lived near Upper Lake long ago. Her warning was expecially fine. Many people knew of her and her work, some of which took prizes when they were chilbride at the State Pair.

Their spears, they sometimes made of the point of a deer's horn. This was fastened over the end of a pole and a hole was drilled through the side of the tips to that they might fasten to its buck-skits riting which was then tited to the pole. They thrust the spear into the fish and then in slipping out the pole, the string pulled the barb sideways and in this way fastened it into the fish which was now held on the string.

Later the white men used the same idea but made the point of steel. They kept the buckskin string as it seemed to be the best.

They used acorns or buckeye and field corn for pile with tar week seeds and manzanita apples for spice and flavor.

They used acorns or buckeye and field corn for price with art weeked and managinal apples for pice and flawor.

They have always enjoyed running marathon races. They used to run a twelve or fourteen mile race around full Lake. About five years ago: Francisco to Grants Pass, Oregon.

At their dances they would dig a pit six feet across and when it was covered with red coals they would toos them about with their hands, wall on them with bare feet, and carry them in their mouths.

They were a happy people used to going without things and suffering cold and heat. They knew no other life and did not what a change.

Some of those tribes whose names were used geographically were the Concost and Locolomits, women with the control of the co

These Pomos were closely related to tribes living along the Russian River and visited frequently with the Sanels in the location of Hoplanc

totasy.

The Indians of Long Valley on the east side of Clear Lake and or Cache and Putah Creeks to the south belonged to a northern division different from the Pomos and were related to tribes of Napa Valley.

The chief tribe in Long Valley was known as Loisels or Loldas. Thei chief, Cittey, became friendly with the first white settlers.

Augustine was chief of the Hoolanapos. He was an intelligent mar and known for his truth and honesty. His accounts furnish most of our information of early Indian life.

#### POMO FOLKWAYS

PONO FOLKWATS

Edwim M. Loob — University of
California Publication in American
Archaeology and Ethnology
From the viewpoint of culture the Pomos might be
areas—the Redwood belt west to the coast, and the Russian Riv
east to and including Clear Lake inhabitants. The coast area w

ultur le least touched by historical custom.

1 1 0

#### CLOTHING AND ORNAMENTS

They made use of the rabbit skin blanket held over one shoulder and ened down the side, also a cloak of woven feathers of the crane. edded tule coats were worn especially by fishermen and considered

They made use of the rabbit skin blanket held over one shoulder and fastened down the side, also a cloud of wown feathers of the crane. Stredded tule coats were worn especially by fishermen and considered very warm.

The strength of the s

family. The terms of the consegroon gave this variety to the bride's family.

Both men and women allowed their hair to grow, using a comb made from anise root or soaproof fiber. Fancy hairpins were made from the legations of the deer ten or twelve inches long spliced with sines in the middle. A ring of feathers started at the splicing and ring after the middle of the control of the started and the splicing and ring after the previous and but men to the splice and ring after the splice was the splice and the splice of the splice was the splice and the splice of the splice was the splice and white colors. The black paint was made of charcoal mixed with the juice of soaproot, which had been backed in ashes. Red was prepared the same from a rock powder. White paint came from clay.

#### DWELLINGS

Clear Lake Pomos built a framework of poles bent together at the top and thatched with bundles of tule. The floor was of dirt although tule mats were used. Beds were built of four forked sticks two feet high and cross pieces over which tule mats were piles.

\_12\_

Every village throughout the Pomo region had its ut fround sweat house for the men. They built it in the spring digging the dirt with sharpened sticks and with their hands, carrying away dirt in baskest. They measured the size by picking out the tallest man and laying him free times on a line on each side of the center pole. The men usually sign there and spent their time there in winter. The bring house was for women and children and for cooking and eating.

Pomos held their dances and overenouse out of door in the caster. children and for cooking and eating.

Pomos held their dances and ceremonies out of doors in the spring time and in summer. These were held in a tule enclosure.

FOODS

Pomos, like other California Indians north of the Colorado River, and t

The road-runner was caught in sports by means of a bolsa, a string with small round stones on either end. The young men ran after the birds and threw the bolsas around their legs. The birds were of no use but the

-13-

the feathers in preparing medicine.

The humming-bird was never molested. It was thought to be under protection of the thunder god. The owl was considered a bird of ill

omen.

A perj important source of food supply was found in the fish of Clear

Lak, Pathing, lines were made from milkwed fiber and the poles from

willowe, with straight home sharp at both ends was used as a hook

baired with a worm. Fith nets were bags about ten feet wide at the mouth

and the same in length. The pole to which the net was attached was of

pine or fit. The mouth of the milkweed net was held open by two cross
pieces.

The Pomo were not in the habit of hunting bear for meat unless short of food. The hides, however, were much sought after for quivers and robes.

ropes.

Acorn meal furnished the main article of diet. Fish and deer meat were preserved.

The Pomo made little use of salt. It was eaten with fish and used for preserving.

7

OCCUPATIONS

Both men and women made carrying baskets. Men did the hunting and fishing, the balsa raft building and nouse building, and made the fish traps and fish baskets. Men carved the meat, the women cooked it. Both men and women gathered across, but the women only ashered the clower, nuts, and seeds for pinote. Men gathered the clower, nuts, and seeds for pinote. Men gathered the clower, now, and care consolid costumes.

The Pomo were the principal purveyors of money to central California. The chief supply was from Bodega Bay, where two well-known clam shells were found.

clam shells were found.

Pomo boats were boat-shaped rafts or balsas made of bundles of tule.

They held three or more persons and scarcely lasted for more than a season or two, but were less labor to make than the canoes.

season or two, but were less labor to make than the canoes. For dithes they used bankers, spoons made of musuel shells, and burned redwood boles as wooden bowls to hold grease. One type of Pomo pipe was made of ash twelve inches long. Dried wild tobacco was crushed and smoked. Their principal musual instrument was the drum. With this they used whistles, rattlet, flute, and a musical bow. The drum was six feet long, hollowed out of oak and supported by grape view. On ean played this by trampling upon it. Whistles were made to foure. There was only one kind of fluter, made from an alker shoot. The musical bow appears to have

been used only by the Lake people. It was from willout the two sinew strings that were stuck with a round stick of ash.

Basketry was the chief expression of art. Beads were extensively employed.

employed.

In transportation the Pomo are classified as "human carriera," loads being carried in large conical baskets which hung from the forehead, rarely from the chest. Because of their extensive trading activities, they appear to have been great traveler. Credit was never extended except that the Lake people, when they had plenty, gave feasts. The coast people gave seawed feasts.

### INDIAN NAMES

Ki-on—head of Lake people. Yo-voo-tu-ea—a small hill.

# THE SWEAT HOUSE

Before the coming of the white people, the Indians knew little of the treatment of disease. They used a few roots and herbs as remedies fo

imple aliments, and any serious illness was thought to be the result of lispleasing some powerful mystical being, and it might be relieved only by operating the officiended spirit with curious incantations and ceremoniate was the ceremonial dance in the sweat house, so named by the white men.

The sweat house was found in every rancheria, I was built over a sircular excavation shaped like an inverted bowl. The framework was nade of strong poles and branches bound together with withes and continuous and the entire of the contract of the

rold water.

This treatment was their curs-all, and whether it is Illided or curs the satient, depended on his aliment and on the amount of strength he had.

The sweat house was also used as a council chamber and sometimes as a banquet hall. The bodies of the dead were sometimes burned in the sweat town the same of the same than the same to the same than the s

# THE MISHA DANCE

In the year 1872, the Indias of enerly all Western United States came obelieve that the world was coming to an end. This idea gradually eached the Indians of Lake and surrounding counties, and so strong was he belief that all of the Indians for about one hundred miles gathered in a Darcus Ranch. Here, for many years, the natives maintained the largest weat house in the country and naturally to this spot they congregated for her last days on earth, as they thought, You must understand that these of the country and naturally to this spot they congregated for her last days on earth, as they thought, You must understand that these is the country of the Creat Spirit.

It was in August, 1872, that the Indian began to come, by twos and chrees, in small groups and in larger groups until there were four hundred are more people gathered on the banks of the creak. They brought the together when the great end came—when the Great Spirit called them. They brought all their worldy possessions. They turned their few horses

They brought all their worldly possessions. They turned their few horses loose for they thought they never would need them again. Then they began

their dances in the sweat house and also out of doors. Ay hany as three hundred were dancing at one time. They kept three bond, burning all the time and gradually worked themselves to a high pitch of religious

1

the time and gradually worked intenserves to a map joint of response-cerciment.

Consideration of the control of the control

they assured her they were not going to make war and that they would see that no harm came to be family.

To days the dance continuely then, as nothing happened, the lake became chasused, the findian realized that perhaps they were mistaken about the world's coming to an end and gradually they departed to their own localities and the white settler returned to their hower form of the settler of their control of their hower from the control of the settler of their hower form of the creek when they ran from the weak house perspiring and exhausted after dancing for hours.

An early historian of Napa and Lake Counties related that the gathering of the tribe as of Ciert Lake was brought on by the superiore of only once in ten years and portended great calamity to the Indians.

This time they believed the end of the world was at hand.

# THE WINTER FOOD SUPPLY FOR THE INDIANS

THE WINTER FOOD SUPPLY FOR THE INDIANS
Before historic times the Indians in the Clear Lake valleys had to rely
for food on the natural resources of the country about. In the forests were
deer, elik, bear and game-briefs, and the insteams and lakes abounded in
fish and water fowl. For vegetable food they could find acorns, wild nuts,
beriefs, and the justy roots of plants such as tule potators
price from the most part, they were a happy-go-lucky set, living, as we say,
from hand to mouth. They were easily cometin with enough food for cach
day as it came. Thus it was susually either a feats or a famine with them.
You will remember, however, that there were many more foliabre.

then than now. \*\*\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$}}}\$ at the coming of the white men they found here nearly as many Indians as there are now white people.

It is easy to see that even in those times there was not always plenty for them all. Some seasons the three three in the relation of the season that the continues they found again and fish not no plentiful as usual. Because they sometimes found themselves and the produce between the produces the produce the squirrels and woodpeckers, to store frame found themselves and the produces the squirrels and woodpeckers, to store frame prices.

One that of fish which the Indians relied on for their winter food was the hist, which were thick then as now, in the water of Kelesy Creek as appaying time in the print of the year. Sometimes the creek looked fine like a river of fish than dy water.

After the white men came, the Indians found it much harder to live.

After the white men came, the Indians found it much harder to live. The printing of the printing of the printing of the year and the printing of the year and the printing of the printing of the printing of the fine and they were allowed by the depended more and more on fish, and even down to ord spit is always time for them when the hitch go up the streams by thousand.

In the catching and drying of hist they seem to vary good plan. If we have the printing the printing for them when the hitch go up the streams by thousand.

In the catching and drying of hist they seem to vary it is a happy time for them when the hitch go up the stream by thousand.

In the catching and drying of hist they seem to the fish the Indian the printing of the printing of the fish the Indian the printing of the printing of the fish the Indian the printing of the fish the Indian the printing of the fish the Indian t

they are needed.

# THE SPANISH IN LAKE COUNTY

THE SPANISH IN LAKE COUNTY

Before the coming of the white man there were no houses or fowns, as we now have, but only here and there, on the lake shore or beside a stream, the tule-covered wigswans of the Indians.

There were no fences, no fields of grain or corn, no rows of orchard trees, but just the grass-covered hills with their oaks, manaranitas, and many bushes, the mountains covered with pines and firs and the valleys thick with groves of great oak trees.

many bushes, the mountains covered with pines and firs and the valleys thick with groves of great oak trees.

There were nords with signs telling the traveler which way to go, and no bridges across the creek, only paths worn by the feet of the indianas and will amind a bush and the path of the path of the control of control of control of the control of the control of the control of control of control of the control of control of control of control of control of the control of c

with a party of cowboys or vaqueros, they returned bringing with them a large herd of cattle. They drove the cattle in through the caryous over the mountains near middletown, for as you will remember here were no redict them.

When they came into Big Valley, they decided to make their home a place near the bank of Rethey Creek, later owned by Press and Set

-19-

Rickabaugh.

At first they had to watch their cattle day and night to keep them at the first they have. Soon the tringing of the axes of the cowboys could be heard in the forest, for the tringing of the axes of the cowboys could be heard in the forest, for the first they have the had sharpened one end. When great piles of them were ready they drove them into the ground very door together around a place they had marked out, and soon to complet the soon of the soon of the soon of the complete they have the soon of the complete they have the soon of the s

chairs.

They had plenty to eat for there were fish in the lake and wild game, and along the shore were ducks and geses. They had brought seeds with them and soon had garderns.

It is a straight that the straight the straight that the straight th

called a major domo.

They made friends with the Indians, who helped them with all they did. In a few years the valley we now know as Big Valley, scott valley and Bachelor Valley, and the nearby hills were filled with herds of cattle. There were so many of them that they rounded them uponly once or vice a year. They became almost as wild as the deer that are grast side with them. At 18 and 1

#### THE WHITE MEN AND THE INDIANS

THE WHITE MEN AND THE INDIANS
After the Spaniards were gone, Stone and Kelsy built their home on
what we know as Piner Hill just west of Kelseyville.
There men were very crued to the Indians, seeming not to look on
them as men like themselves but merely as slaves to serve them. They made
them work hard staing care of the cattle and od all the work of the transit,
Whenever the indians displeased them or dearted and of all we wist of the reach.
Whenever their which whips or with tough wither which were gathered

on the mountains for that purpose.

on the mountains for that purpose.

The Indians built the white men's house, which was forty feet long and fifteen feet wide and was made of adobe mud. Chief Augustine of the Hoolaango tribe, when so no of them, said five hundred Indian men and women worked on the house, carrying in their grass baskets the water with which the adobe was mixed, for a distance of about five hundred yards, It took two months to build the house:

With all that number to feed, they killed one beef each day and they had no bread or anything det to eat except the meat. Their only pay was a few bandan handrechels. If they complained they were whipped. This made them very angry and they thought of the days before the white man. em. Then the land belonged to them, they did not have to over a cut language. The could hand for fish whenever they liked. So they began to take what they wanted. They even taked a few of the case and they wanted. They even taked a few of the case a classification of the country of the country

coust must not tan wenever they liked, 30 they began to take what they wanted. They even killed a few of the eartie.

The two white men were alone and were failed of so many Indam, so more while the redim were in a friendly mood, they may be the some of the source. Then the Indam could not fight or hust until they could make new weepons, and that would take a long time.

The white men grew more and more cruel, so the the spring of 1848 the Indians because their weepons were all in the house that they surrounded it one night and kept the more were all in the house that they surrounded it one night and kept the more formed from the surrounded in the surr

they came to save the men in the adobe house.

When they arrived in the night they saw a blood-curdling sight. The house was barricaded like a fort and all around it dancing and yelling was a host of naked Indians, while by the camp fires the squaws were adding to the horrible noise with their dismal wall of the property of the state of the

-20-

white men were an aid to go among them very much, but still they kept up their cruelty. Perhaps they thought that was the only way to manage the Indians.

Indians.

Whith the bag of gold, as large as a man's arm, which the Indians had found for them, they bought many cattle in Sonoma County. The Indians made is trips to drive them back to Clart Lake.

Augustine, clared of the Hoodismays or a superno for the Kelteys, and the Clark of the Hoodismays of the Clark of the Hoodismays of mannerment of witners to the manch. Also they were whipped if they were found hunting on the ranch and worse yet, once the young Indians were taken to other places and sold just as though they were cattle.

At last the white men planned to rid therewelves of the adults are in the contract of the sold of the contract of th

sold just as though they were cattle.

At the white men planned to rid themselves of the older Indians by driving them out of the country and down to Statters Fort at worked for two weeks making ropes to bind the ones who refused to go. They all were very any about having to go away. And, the white men had taken Augustine's wife and made her live at the adobte house and with the statter of the

work for them.

At last the Indians could stand it no longer. They planned to kill the white men. One day they stole their guns while the men were away from the house and hid them. Early the next morning they made the attack.

the nouse and nid them. Early the next morning they made the attack.

Kelsey was hit in the back with an arrow which was shot at him
through a window. Stone escaped upstairs, and when the Indians rushed
after him, be jumped out an upper window, ran down to the creek and hid
in the willows. The Indians searched for him and finally an old Indian found him and struck him on the head with a rock, killing him.

# THE PUNISHMENT OF THE INDIANS

THE PUNISHMENT OF THE INDIANS
The Clear Lake Indians were foolish enough to think that because
they had killed Stone and Kelsey, they would be free from trouble and all
would be as it was before the white men ename. Indeed, it seemed for a
while that the other white people would do nothing to average the death of
happy old days were gone forever.

A company of soldiers under command of Lieutenant Lyons was sent
offen Benical to pushish them. When they arrived at the bower and of the
lake, they found that the Indians had been warned of their coming and
had hurried to an infland where they could not get at them. They sent back
were brought up on wagons, the first hist were ever sen in Lake County.

What a trip it must have been over the mountains what there were no roadel in the stands on which the Indians were gathered was near the present out of Upper Lake. It was surrounded by deep water in the winter but it became very shallow in the summer. The boats had been brought to a place near where Clear Lake Highlands now is located.

Part of the soldiers with the cannon went to the in dwith the boats. When the main body of soldiers and went to the side with the boats around the lake on the west side. The two parties met on the shore near the later.

island.

The next morning a few shots were fired from the land to get the attention of the indians. The balls fell far short of the range so the Indians only laughed and jeered at them and all gathered on that side of the island to watch them and see what they would do.

to watch them and see what they would use. In the meantime, the soldiers in the boats slipped around to the other side of the hland. At a signal they turned the cannon on the Indians and the deadly shots went plowing through the group, leaving the ground covered with the dead and wounded. A park soldiers who had hidden in the tube. Many Indians were killed, but some escaped by plunging into the tube. Many Indians were killed, but some escaped by plunging into the water or hiding in the brush or rule. It is said that the soldiers killed women and children also. Since that time the place has been called "Bloody Island" in memory of the event. It also that the word has been also had be been as well as the been arready with the been farmed and is now being farmed.

lake bottom around it has been drained and in owe being farmed.

Having finished with the Indians on the island, the soldiers went on to find other tribes around Potter and Uklah Valleys. They found none in the Potter Valley rancheria as those had been warned and were in hiding. About one hundred of the Uklain three were little.

A few months later a party of white men came and made a feast valve the party of the part

The Indian version of these stories and that of the white settlers differ newhat but are alike in the main points.

-25-

treated more and more like slaves by the two cattle men.

One summer, it is said that one hundred and seventy-two Indians were taken to Sonoma to build adobe houses. They became very homesick, Augustine, chief of the Hoolanapox, ran away and came home. In punishment he was tied up and made to stand on his feet in a sweat

The durning of the rancher land scott sold set of the scott sold s

of the young warriors to go with them to Scotts Valley to quantih the other tribe. These were given hows and arrows and other weapon. The him were the properties of the prope

THE INDIANS HUNT FOR GOLD After the burning of the Scotts Valley rancheria, the Indians were ed more and more like slaves by the two cattle men.

house for a whole week and had nothing to eat except but and water. Six others were punished the same way.

About this time, in the spring of 1848, gold was discovered in some of creek beds in the mountains of California. Everyone was much excited. Men left their farms, storekeepen locked and own of all thairs. Everyone was more than the store of the sto

the series and the series and series and series waiting the graved and looking for muggets of gold. Some of these men became very rich.

The ness came to go tose and Keley and they, too, were anxious to The ness came to go tose and Keley and they, too, were anxious to The ness came to the series of the series

THE MASSACRE OF STONE AND KELSEY THE MASSACKE OF STONE AND ARELECT.

When at last the Indians who lived around the Lake gave up hope and knew that their young men who had gone to hunt for gold for the white men were dead, they grew very bitter and hated Stone and Kelsey who made them work so hard. They became so bad tempered that the

were also and the control of the control of the control of the control of the summer passed and none came. Then, one by one, the fall days came and went until at last as winter was setting in, two or three footstore Indiance ame back.

They told of the cively of the white men, of the sickness of which as many had died, and of their fights with enemy Indians and of starving if the mountains. But saddest of all their stories was the one that none of the strong young men would ever come bonne again.

\_23\_

-24-

# EARLY SETTLEMENTS

THE ARRIVAL OF THE FIRST WHITE FAMILY

THE ARRIVAL OF THE FIRST WHITE FAMILY

After the tragedy of the killing of Keley and Stone, the Indians had no experience with white men until the spring of 1848 when a party of people in a covered wagon interested in California by tales of gold discovery, appeared on the secre. This was the Hammach Farry that had lead to the property of the proper

health-giving climate.

Martin Hammack and his sonts-in-law immediately selected blocks of land for their respective homes and went about the work of gathering material for their houses. They went out to the mountains to the south of the walley, Mt. Hannah, and split cedar slabs for walls and shakes for roofs. These also were about six feet long and two out did not limit the material for studding was cut out by land their all tires and made puncheon floors. For food, Mohier Nature provided lavishly, for

there were elk, deer, grouse, quail in the woods, and fun the streams and lake.

THE FIRST LAKE COUNTY ROMANCE

In 1835 Martin Hammek and his family arrived in California from Missouri, after traveling six months in wagons. They stayed at a mining town called Middletown in Shasta County for six months, but not liking conditions, they decided to leave this immounts a valley thickly wooded with largo oak trees where the wild hay grew shoulder high. There was also a large lake here where fits were plentiful and wild ducks and geete swam and fed.

While in Shasta County and the County of the County

and fed. See in thesias County, the Harmack featily me at number of you.

Journal of the County, the Harmack featily me at number of you.

Journal of the County, the Harmack featily me at number of you.

Journal of the County of the Harmack featily me at number of you.

Journal of the County of

daugher Martha.

In June of the year Martin Hammack and his daugher Martha, with
In June of they year Martin Hammack and his daugher Martha, with
In June of they was the many properties of the properties of the workers of the worke

#### THE FIRST HOME NEAR KELSEYVILLE

Although a few white mean level in light July before 1854, the year is important for four families and the families. There or four families arrived almost simultaneously and settled in yarbus parts of the valley.

About mean miles of the parts of the parts of the parts of the valley.

various parts of the valley.

About two miles north of the present town of Kelseyville the family of Elijiah Reeves made their camp and proceeded to build their home.

of Elijiah Reves made their camp and proceeded to build their home.

M. Revers had been atterted on the country about the lake while on any long through the country about the lake while on lilinois and the state of the years before. He returned to lilinois make his home in our valley.

Coming into California by the Donner Lake route, they arrived in Shatta Country, where they stayed a few months before continuing their

journey.

They made their entrance into our county by ox team, and when one of the oxen died, hitched their one milk cow in its place and came on their way. Coming with this family and making her home with them as a young gift, Anne Meeks, A story full of theils and romance enters around this gift and her sister Rachac. In the state of the s

them anyway.

While the frightened parents frantically pondered what to do, the Reeves party arrived in the settlement. They were implored to find a way to help save the gift. The following scheme was worked out. The other party arrived in the settlement. They were implored to find a way to help save the gift. The following scheme was worked out. The California by the southern route and the other by the Donner Lake trail.

Rachael Meek was hidden among the bagagae of the group going south. Elljiah Reeves agreed to take Anne with his family. They had a large bin used for earrying flour. Then was stowed away in the bin and traveled there for four diays until they felt safe from pursuit.

Anne lived in Lake County with the Reeves family as they could get no news of her sister or parents. Rachael's party settled in Green Valley, Sonoma County.

Sonoma County.

Several years later, Lyman Benson, a brother of the pioneer Bensons of Big Valley, who were close neighbors to the Revest family, upent some time in Sonoma County. There he mek Rachael and married her. After a time the couple came on a saw how the same of the pinker of the pinker between the two states where thus reunited. The parents were also restored to be nit hilter years.

aiso restored to them in later years.

Lake County and de later family and has many descendants in Lake County and de later family and has many descendants in Lake County and dependent for the later family and the later family and later family. Mrs. Nobles was a daughter of Elijiah Recevet.

Reeves.

George Reeves, a son, was the frist white child to be born in Lake County.

#### EARLY FAMILIES

Mr. R. H. Sneed tells the story of a man who was chased up a tree by a large bear. The man climbed as far as he could go on the large limbs of

-28-

the tree but the bear followed closely. The man was set, intend that he could only kick at the bear, who caught his foot in his mouth, tearing off public off the three and pushed it into the bear's mouth. The big animals were back on the bear's mouth. The big animal went back down the rea and the man hoped he would go away, but he was soon back and this time he was given the man's shot-nouch. The third time the man used his hat, and by this time the bear became discouraged and went away leaving the poor man to find help as best he could.

best he could.

Another time, Dr. J. S. Downs saw north of Upper Lake a very large bear eating wild sweet clover. The bear seemed to be watching something, for he would often raise his head and look toward the other end of the meadow. When the doctor saw that it was an Indian who was enjoying the clover he decided to go about his work and let the bear and the Indian alone.

source a decided to go about his work and lee the bear and the Indian Subset.

Sized tells us that the Indians used to fish in a small lake called figer Lake, in the northern part of the county. They handle is mortimes as much as two tons of fish, lef has seen duck so plentiful around only the county. They handle is mortimes as two tons of fish, lef has seen ducks so plentiful around only the county of th

nere were ano gooc, ann swans were never pair wante want ouack legs and beat. Men used to kill deer and all eviamon to workers in the hopfold.

Men the camery at Laurel Dell, a man lived on the range with his fine hunting dogs, One day while at work in the camery Mr. Sneed and another man, Mr. Goodman, who was interested in trapping, heard a great noise and harting among the dogs. Thet wos et off up Cow Mr. And the strength of the strength of

One time after the martins had been here two years, Augustine came to the father of the family and warned him to have everything ready so that they could leave the house that right if the Indianat came. He that the could be the sent the sent that the father of the father than the fathe

After the punishment of the Indians for the massacre of Stone and sey, the soldiers used to come to the county about every two years to

Anier to punishment of the Indians for the massacre of Stone an indian to the punishment of the Indians (Indians) and the the three-printing was talk. This may have angiered the young Indians. Once as the soldier roop gast at man where AM. Benners Thomas war triking with Indians on the machinery, one odd Indian clinched down triking with Indians on the machinery, one odd Indian clinched down years to be a specific or the Indians of the Indians of the Indians gaing, her regular (\*\*] got to die with my people. "The men tried to that that the soldiers would harm no one but he could not believe it and it on to his people."

eggs."

firet the hay was gathered, the Indian women came in and gathered is deeds to use for a spice in their pinole. They liked to gather the clover but it made workmen angry because they made the field and hard to cut with a soythe. Mr. Martin gave orders not to them because the clover belonged to them before the white people

Their camp was later moved nearer to "Prayer Hill," that rocky und south of Lakeport which had distinct winding paths around the to the summit. In time of any trouble the Indians wound up the hillside king with heads bowed, their chief leading, followed by his advisors, warriors, the older men and finally, by the women and children, all in very

The Martin family made their own starch, soap and candles. One year

they shipped out 1200 chickens, 300 turkeys, and flough for brought in their sugar in wooden barrels, usually 120 chiefly out.

For the fain they had picnics and Fourth of July celebrations and sometimes religious camp meetings. Min Martins says the children would grow tired at these meeting as hed such a quere way of speaking that his count instanted him one time while the children weed and could be consistent to the children with the countries of the children with the children wit

laughing.

Another time, while they gat in moreing they were to long at a large bulk-healed man who show yet came to meeting, but always sleep through the state of the state Sometimes they went to Indian dances with their father and often watched them run races.

watened them run races.

There was plenty to do and fun enough even without the movies and autos of today.

autos of today.

Facts on the settlement of Scotts Valley, given by Mrs. Ellen Rantz of Lakeport, are especially interesting in these days of good roads and land developments.

in the special process of the special process

vasity, where they tound a one-toom cabin.

It was December of a very wet winter and there were no bridges nor drainage. Scotts Creek overflowed its banks and kept the rich valley land in a condition of swamp. That was the reason that so many families settled first on the higher ground which was usually more free from growth and certainly not so wet in winter months. They took up squatters claims and later sold their lands as such.

The new home had a fireplace for the cooking and the mother baked the bread in a Dutch oven in the coals. She used a crane for the kettle. They made their own candles as the other early settlers did. When severe

storms made it impossions to go to a consideration and the process and the pro

root will all and the support. Priends came to these parties from a distance of forty miller. The falled root do broekeds using the side acide and desested in long riding skirts.

Altendance and the state of the state of the state of a three mile state of the state

The district through which Scotts Valley road rights was known as Leaseville because land was so frequently leased for the clearing. Acopy of the small semi-monthly newspaper, the Scotts Valley Independence, building the Scott S

LIFE IN THE NEW COUNTRY

The lives of our first settlers must have seemed very quiet after the adventures and severe hardships suffice that the severe hardships suffice to the severe hardship suffice to the severe allowed to the severe hardship suffice to the severe hardship

#### UPPER LAKE

7

The first settlement at what is now Upper Lake was made by Benjamin Dewell and his wife. They were the first of the white people to easily made homes here. Devell and Mrs. Frances Hadon on more to California tale to the property of the pr

Some of the company did as he told them while some went on to the

north.

At first Mrs. Dewell lived with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Wm. Bell Ellioti, in Calistoga. There were Mexican war troubles at that time but sees traveled very slowly and the first that these people learned of it was a letter, which came telling them that the Mexican government had him, and the many slowly slo

hey might be safe. When they settled in the fort they took down the Mexican flag but hey didn't know what to put up in its place so they decided to make one cell of the mind of the safe of the safe

Several years later when the little girl had grown up, she married senjamin Dewell and they were the first white family to settle in Upper acket. Their first neighbor was Lance Musick, who moved in the next month and later in the year Mrs. Dewell's father followed.

He put up the first grist mill in 1855 and built a millitree so that he sould use the waters of Clover Creek to turn the water whether when the summer was the state of the summer than the summer was the summer than the summer than the following the summer than the cold home and the family use the old channel or a garden. The house, built in 1855, was the first frame house in the ountry.

ounty.

In the fall of 1854, the Elliott party came to Upper Lake. They settled in the banks of Clover Creek about one-fourth of a mile above the ocation of the town today. They also brought stock.

The bank was organized December 14th, 1874. The first Board of Directors listed the names of R. S. Johnson, W. J. Biggerstaff, J. H. Rouffo, D. V. Thompson, Lindey Carson, and D. T. Taylor, R. S. Rouffo, D. V. Thompson, Lindey Carson, and D. T. Taylor, R. S. Marchand, and C. L. Carson, and D. T. Taylor, R. S. G. L. Carson, the following March. He held office for four year famous Kit Carson, the following March. He held office for four years and was succeeded by H. C. Boggs in March, 1878. M. Boggs was the first principal stockholder. The bank was a successful organization in 85%, having a surplus of \$200,000.

Mr. Mackall had entered into the drug business in 1870, but sold to E. Phelan in 1877, as his duties as cashier of the bank and as a Notory olic and general fire insurance agent, required his whole attention.

Josiah Jackson Bruton was one of the much loved early men of Josiah Jackson Bruton was one of the much loved early men of interesting life in Lake County, him Judge Bruton. He led a busy and interesting life in Lake County. Mr. and Mrs. Bruton and one child traveded across the plains with an ox-team, leaving their home in Missouri because they knew there was to be a war over alsaver.

a war over alwey.

They arrived in Lake County in 1864 and lived for seventeen years just two niles and in Lake County in 1864 and lived for seventeen years just two niles and they are considered to the county of Lake property, where they bought one hundred and sixty aeros of land. Lear Art year, where they bought one preach as minister in the Christian Church. Many removes the sax a leader of son gin that day when there was no musical instrument to accompany the singing.

Often he was song leader, Bible Class teacher and preacher. What wonder, then, with mind thus overburdened, that he was very much precoccupied.

occupied.

The following story is told by one who holds Mr. Bruton as a part of cherished memories of childhood. In those early times it was the om of the church in which he preached, to immerse candidates for

custom of the church in which he preached, to immerse candidates for haptism in the waters of the lake. Following morning service, the congregation would wend its way to the shore to witness this ceremony. One Sunday morning, when Mr. Bration was to perform this ceremony, he hurried home to change his dothes before going to the lake. His wife waited in the living room while he retired to the bedroom for the change. After waiting quite a time she became anxious to know why he tooks so long. On entering the bedroom, she discovered than of durroing, he had absent-mindedly gone to bed.

After giving up his duties in the church he became a lawyer and justice of the peace. He was always interested in this county and helped in any way he could be build it.

The next spring Lansing T. Musick and Joseph Ward came in to live, one on each side of Clover Creek. Mr. Musick waxed at farming, hunting and trapping, At this time there were many with hogs in the tules and the bears did not seen to bother them to got and the bears did not hear to the control to the control of the transition. The Devellb mought in the first tame bogs and the bears did not hear all the hog didappeared very sudden. Depth to the taste of the meat, then all the hog disappeared very suddensy, and did their part to make the new country into good farms and homes.

The town really started when a man named Butofix to pose the first store. In 1866, and Caper Swekerb Degan a blackmill shop, Heary Taylor started the first bord.

The town really started the first bord. The control of the properties of the properties of the country of the properties of the pro

#### GOING TO THE STORE AND POST-OFFICE

GOING TO THE STORE AND POST-OFFICE

Many years ago when only a few white people lived in Lake County,
it was not easy for them to get the things they needed for food and
copy to understand the people lived in the people lived in the
casy to understand the copy of the people lived in the
casy to understand the food of the people lived in the
casy to understand the food of the people lived in the
casy to understand the food of the people lived in the
people lived in the people lived in the people lived in the
people horse and multi-Fort be belighed of their homes they brought axes,
hammers, asses and few other tools. For the cooking there were flying
ans, into a kettles, some paars and a few dother, many of them than 'the
with a few clother and the balancest and quittle for the beds, were all
the time that the people lived in the people lived in the
most of them blant.

with a few dothes and the blankets and quitt so their feets, were an usual most of them had.

At first they mitted they needed with their own hands. One woman, and the their properties of the properties of the

-35-

nd flour and meal for Lake County people and some I grain raising was no longer the main farm industry I be brought into the county cheaper by automobile

#### THE ROCK MILL

In 1872 two brothers, Middleton and Elkanah Akers, built a mill at the mouth of Cold Creek Canyon. The purpose of this mill was to can out rocks for building fireplaces and milk houses. The location was ideal for this purpose as both sides of the canyon were covered with masses of rocks formed from soldfield evolcanic ash. Through the caryon Cold Creek flowed the year around, furnishing water to turn a large wheel which operated the saws of soft band from.

operated the saws of soft band iron.

The large rocks were hauled to the mill and placed in position. The sawyer then decided how the rock could be cut to the best advantage in much the same way that one does when working on a log in a humber mill. The saw of the same way that one of the same way that the best best positions to be a same way to be a same way to be a some when they built their houses.

Elkanah Akers went to Oregon soon after the mill was built and William Akers, a nephew, became one of the owners. This old rock mill was a source of great interest to everyone in the community and was a landmark for many vent until the warned.

### LAKEPORT

This is the principal town in the Big Valley Township and the seat of government for the county. It is located on the western shore of Clear Lake, upon terraced hills all overlooking the lake. Oak trees are scattered about giving shade and beauty to the town. From a boat on the water one can see roots of houses among the trees.

can see 1001s or nouses among the trees.

The first store in Lakeport was built in 1856 by Dr. E. D. Boynton, though a man named Johnson sold goods there in 1855. This store stood south of the present town and was called Tuckertown. Aaron Levy later became one of the owners and had a new store on a knoll, part of which was dug out of the hillside.

K

In 1859 William Forbes owned 160 acres wheth sukeport stands today. He had a small wooden building south of First street and west of Forbes'. When the county was first made and the officers were looking for the best place for its capital, Mr. Forbeo offered them forty acres if they were the form of the first place for the fi

1seo, It mat lour hundred people in 1870.

The Lake County Bee was primed on March 8th, 1873, by J. B.
BECCUS.

The Lake Democrat was started June 18th, 1875, by A. A. R. Utrisq.,
who sold it to John R. Cook in April, 1879. On September 11th, 1880, the
Bee and the Democrat were brought together as one paper, which was
named the Bee-Democrat until 1893.

The Clear Lake Press was moved from Lower Lake to Lakeport in 1891 and was published by John L. Allison. In 1895, David F. McIntire and Mrs. Marcia Mayfield took in 6 voer. Mr. P. H. Millberry leased Mrs. Mayfield's share, then later Mr. McIntire's, and put in the first standard limotype machine in the county.

In 1936, the Lake County Bee was owned and published by Mr. William J. Bolce. Today the Bee and Press are published weekly by Mr. E. J. Moore.

J. Moore.

In 1876, the Farmers' Savings Bank building was erected, a structure planned and built by R. Kennedy of Lakeport, according to the Descriptive Pamplele published in 1885. It tells us that "the front was supported by massive and elegant iron pillars, espable of supporting a six-story building. It was built at the cost of \$18,000. Half of the lower story was occupied by the bank and the remainder by the drug store of C. E. Phelan and Read & McCraney's Jewerly store. In the second story were Artonope I. E. Noel, and J. M. Hutchinson, dentist. Rooms in the rear of the bank were occupied by the county ressurer, David Williams, who also used the substantial vaults for safe keeping of the county funds.

\_39\_

-34-

BEGINNING THE KELSEYVILLE CONCUNITY

In the years just following the Stone and Kelsey massacre a few white ple began to drift into the country about Clear Lake and settled in orable places. First of all came single men, prospectors and lavorance paces, mrs. of an earne sange men, prospectors and adventurers.

See a part of the pace of t

Revers.

The Hammacks and Crawfords settled near the center of the valley, while the Rever's home was on the east side about two miles north of Keleyville, the town to be.

Others among the early settlers whose names are still familiar, were Robert Gaddy, Jonas Ingram, Pires and Soth Ricksbaugh, Asa Slocum Addison and Anderson Benon, Stephen Tucker, Nat and Bert Kelsey, S. B. Nobles, C. A. Piner, the Gadds and others.

The first houses were built of logs or framed with poles and sided with boards split by hand.

The old adobe house of Stone and Kelsey was torn down and used by several for chimneys. The C. A. Pliner home, which stood for many years was built of adobe bricks from the old house.

As the farms increased other industries came to meet the needs of the farmers. The first wheat and corn were ground into meal and flour with little hand mills or carried to Upper Lake or to Napa. In 1858, Thoma: Allison built a grist mill on the banks of Kelsey Creek where the water could be used to turn the mill wheels.

The old Bery residence was built in 1866 and the brick hotel and the in 1872. Before Keheyulle was fully established as a town there are the state of the state o

An interesting incident connected with the Uncle Same post-office is sollows:

A nephew of J. A. Gunn (father of James A. Gunn) wrote him a etter from England, addressing the envelope:

Uncle James,
Uncle Sam,
U. S. A.

Strangely enough, the letter came to our Uncle Sam's post-office and the post master was able to figure who Uncle James was.

Mr. Gunn added to the business of the new town by starting an organ factory. Some of these organs may still be found in Kelseyville homes.

# LOWER LAKE

LOWER LAKE

Beginning at the southwest corner of this township, we find ourselves
no the summit of Mt. St. Helena, whose highest peak rises to 4400 feet.
room this peak a fine view spreads out before us. We see the whole
ownship as if in a picture. To the north and northwest we find the bald
value of the seed of the

Yalley.

Between all these valley there are ranges of Mountains, and in all of he mountains there are many little valleys that are like oases in a desert. These are lovely places for people to live. Much time could be spent studying this section. How did so much sorax happen to come to these waters? Who can explain the upheavals of 4d that caused the rocks of Sulphur Banks to be in such confusion? one, which should be lying in layers, seem to be upsturned by hugh beds in the confusion of the co

of lava. Walt Anderson was probably the first white—in to settle here with his family. He built a home in Loconoma Valley as early as 1833. His wife was surely the first white woman to live here.

Mr. Lack Stubbs was a rancher near Sulphur Banks mine. A Mr. Callwell, who comed a place to the place to the first fruit of the control of the lack. Slater cannel in \$\$29 and settled does to the lower end of the lake. Slater island, just opposite, take its name from him. His on, John Slater, owned the largest ranch in Burns Valley, which he sold in 1876 to Win. Burnson and the largest ranch in Burns Valley, which he sold in 1876 to Win. Burnson and the largest ranch in Burns Valley, which he sold in 1876 to Win. Burnson and Bowers Landing, in 1839. They began stock raising where there were no other neighbors than the indians for miles around. As what is now known as Bowers Landing, in 1839. They began stock raising where there were no other neighbors than the indians for miles around. As the home and was not afraid of any danger.

J. R. Dale settled near Seigler Creek. Dr. W. R. Mathews and A. Copteys came in and built what was called C.

the home and was not afraid of any danger.

J. R. Dale settled near Seigler Creek. Dr. W. R. Mathews and the Copseys came in and built what was called Copsey's Settlement about three miles south of Lower Lake in 1855. All of these men had families.

Robert Gaddy and Chas. Ferguson, men without families, built a log cabin somewhere near Lower Lake in 1853, and during the same year second house was built by J. Broome Smith and Wm. Graves, who was one of the famous Donner party. This house was made of split lumber and located near the foot of Mt. Konoccii.

The first home built in what is now the town of Lower Lake was set up in 1838 by Mr. E. Minchell, Two men, Herrick and Gerz, built a store in 1838 by Mr. E. Minchell, Two men, Herrick and Gerz, built a store in 1848 by Mr. E. Minchell, Two men, Herrick and Gerz, built a store in 1848 by Mr. E. Minchell, Two men, Herrick and Gerz, built a store in 1848 by Mr. E. Minchell, Mr. E. Imma Kouns tell of the houseamning party that year as well as the wonderful New Years party held in this hospitable hotel. Many of the people there were known as "black Republicans" because of their politics during the Civil War. She reported that the made the trip to San Francisco to assist a sick friend to brought back the first comages to Lower Lake. She added that there were no bees in the county until "Bec" Harbin shipped in some and received as much as two-year-old steers for one hive. One evening she and her grandfather, alone in their little cabin, were startled to hear their dogs famically braiting. They could see a great fire in the valley far away, but have a superior of the property of the party of the property of t

0

\_42\_

Mrs. Emma Kouns had a teacher's certificate by the time she had reached the age of fifteen years and one month, but was not allowed to teach until sixteen. Her first school was about as far across the count as she could go, as it was located near the Blue Lakes in what was known then as Liberty District. Nors Graham, who became the wife of Col.

Che had an account of an interesting tour one might make of the valleys near. Lower Lake. From Jerusalem Valley it crossed Hell's Half Acre and entered the Garden of Eden, where it followed the route of Putals Creek to stand on Devly's head after a short climb. If one choos' to climb higher one could look down into Mysterious Valley and on in Party. Turning down the Patals, the way led through Dead Mans Fight, where Turning down the Patals, the way led through Dead Mans Fight, where

ope Valley.

Turning down the Putah, the way led through Dead Mans Flat, where could look over into the lava beds. On the way north it came to regatory, arriving a Herion after passing Paradise Valley, Climbing out, let four led on to Horse Pasture and turned into Flot-led-the-Ground to as around Tiff Bank, to go to the year and of Jerusaher Valley, where way the property of the passing passing the passing the

The first blacksmith shop in Lower Thompson.

Dr. Who had a permanent blacksmith shop for years and did all the work for Lower for miles around.

On Lower for the enjoyed an unusual thing in a business way as a young lady. Miss Della Walls, conducted a business as druggist, one of the very few lady druggists on the Pacific Costs. She began her work at the age of fourteen and in two years took full charge of the business and ran it very satisfactorily.

tourten and in two years took full charge of the business and ran it very satisfactorily.

A. M. Akins, who came in as a boy and did teaming for the German one of the leading merchants just through planning and hard work. When he passed away in 1932, Lower Lake lost a man who had been known there for many years.

Lower Lake has had many high hopes and disappointments. First, about 1867, the Clear Lake many depressed to the property of the clear Lake has been drawn that the contract of the clear Lake has been drawn to the contract of the clear Lake has been drawn to the contract of the clear Lake has been drawn to the contract of the clear Lake has been drawn to the contract of the contract of

U

East Lake was once a mining village at Sulphur Banks. It lay near that part of the lake which goes east just below the narrows.

#### MIDDI FTOWN

MIDDLETOWN
Valley are gone now. When Middlewom began to grow the whole willige
of Guence moved over them. Middlewom began to grow the whole willige
of Guence moved over them. And the work of the whole the classified
interest them. The property of the state of the state of the classified of the control of the classified of the classifi

A newspaper, the Middletown Independent, was printed in 1866, by P. B. Graham and J. L. Read.

P. B. Graham and J. L. Rend.

P. B. Graham and J. L. Rend.

Render March Young lived on a farm in Illinois when he was a boy and learned to plow when he was only eight years old. When he was a was treemy-two he set out for California, coming across the path and the arrived in Copyore Valley from time. He settled about a part of the arrived in Copyore Valley from time. He settled about six miles north or what is now Middletown. At one time he hauled four thousand pounds of postaces to Sonome to sell but did in make enough to pay for the trip.

At that time much tearning was done hauling sulphur and borra, and a six many the sell of the

At one time he held the position of trustee for the Coyote school, where there were so many unruly older boys that the teachers constantly gave up the work and left. One days such that the teachers constantly gave up the work and left. One days such that the second in a grain field discussing the school and Mr. Parker asked the young man if he thought he could and there was the second of them running a header near by. The teacher replied that he though the could and then walked over to speak to the boys, explaining that he intended to take over the whole, and if there was to be any trouble he would like to have replied the part of the the work of the second one never did leave the master, but he received such a whipping that the second one never did leave the master, but the received such a whipping that the second one never did leave the masher. Hustory does not tell us the name of the teacher, but it does state that he was successful in his work.

# GROWTH OF THE COUNTY

# THE BEGINNING OF LAKE COUNTY

THE BEGINNING OF LAKE COUNTY
You will remember that gold was discovered in California in 1848
and the "gold rush" was in 1849. By 1850 there were so many people in
California that it was necessary to divide the state into counties. The part
that is now Lake County was then a part of Napa County. It was not until
Both County was then a part of Napa County. It was not until
Both County and the county and the county of th

population had increased to 2,355 and the taxable property to \$173,143.

Mount St. Helena and the adjoining mountains were a natural boundary for Napa County on the north. So when the new county was formed, these mount of the county of the

1872, by an Act of the Legislature the division une netween Lane now Napa was definitely settled.

Each county, when it is organized, must have what is known as a county seat-that is, a town or city where the court house is situated and the business of the county conducted. Often there is rivalty over which town shall have the honor. Due stood in there such a lengthy struggle as the county of the county conducted, then known as Grantville, each wanted the honor of being county seat and the struggle lasted for nine years. The location was decided by a vote and Lakeport won the first and second votes in 1861 and 1844. So from 1850 until 1867 the county offices were located at Lakeport.

But the people of Lower Lake never ceased wanting the county seat, so when the county court house in Lakeport was detroyed by fire on February 15th, 1867, they began working harder than ever to persuade people to vote for Lower Lake as the county seat, Keheyville, then known

-47-

as Velocy Cream and ceased to try for the honor, so their vote was very important and inhelivest from they voted for would win. When the election was held, in 1867, so many of them voted for Cower Lake that that town won by just seven votes. So in November the board of supervisors ordered the county officer semoved to Lower Lake.

Lakeport, however, was not satisfied and three years later, in 1870, a fourth and final election was held. This time Lakepore spain won. The the county sead at Lower Lake was not to agreeable as the eight mile trip to Lakeport. When the county records and officen were one more moved to Lakeport, a great celebration was held and 75 guns were fired, one in honor of each majority vote.

# THE "LOST" MONEY

There are interesting stories connected with the early history of Lake County. One of them describes some of the troubles of the county treasurer.

Today, the money is kept in the bank and in a safe in his office. In rly days there were no banks and the supervisors felt that they couldn't ford a safe. So the treasurer, Mr. Cook, kept the money in an iron chest Mr. Levy's store. The store was only a small wooden building, however, de any for thieves to enter.

and easy for thieves to enter.

On the night of October 24th, 1864, some thieves broke into the state carried the iron chest to a Rieda south of town and broke into it and store, a ready of the country. We cook kept the money in an old shot bag and carried it home with him. He lived in a small ruddy finished house a short distance south of Lakeport, and when he got home he would hide it over the door, on a rafter, in some case, for ever him the ready had been a small ruddy finished house a short hiding place that it was sometimes difficult for him to remember where he had to One a difference he would have the control of the control of the state of

had hidden it.

"An elemphone in muhed into Mr. Crawford's office nervous and one altern have sades the money again," he said. "Do you know where you put it has night" saked Mr. Crawford. "No, but I have sarched everywhere," answered Mr. Cook. Then the two men went to hunt again for the missing money. After much searching it was finally found in a little trough-shaped place over the door under rubbish that Mr. Cook had piled on it in his search ertern in the day.

# CHAPMAN'S FIASCO

There is an interesting incident known as Chapman's Fisco.
"Fisco" means "a plan that failed." Mr. I. N. Chapman was the man whose plan failed. It was a man named Judge A. P. McCarty who caused the plan to fail.

Before we start the story, let us remember that the white people were coming into Lake County and settling it. Each man wanted a piece of land for his own and did not want others to claim it. So mays were made of the land around the lake and the man's name put on the spot he wanted. These maps were called plats and each man had to flich his pupers and have his name entered as soon as he was sure of his location. This was called "making entity."

"making entry."

Now, in 1868, a great part of the land around the lake had not yet been surveyed. The Lup-yoni Grant had just been declared government land and an man by he amo of I. N. Chapman had been sent to survey it. He did his work very carefully and spent some time doing, i, but did not encourage the settlers to make their entries. The people liked him and when her and for the office of county surveyor that fall, he was dected.

when he ran for the office of county surveyor that fall, he was elected.
Shortly after his election, Mr. Chapman took all his books and went
to San Francisco to make new plats, he said. It was then that Judge
McCarry began to be suppicious, he he had himself appointed deputy
heard from him again he foll certain that some crooked work was going
heard from him again he foll certain that some crooked work was going
to Judge McCarry, herefore, uraged everyone to file on his land at once.
If was kept busy day and night for several days and when he finished he
sent the papers to the Sulter Land Office as Scarmanto by special delivery.

ent the papers to the State Lind Office a began and the state of the Ady or so later, a San Francisco ground field to the state of the Ady or so later, a San Francisco groun field on the state Each, thut the people who had filed first had the land. Chapman and his friends had figured a way to get rich quickly by cheating the real settlers of their good land and he was furious when he discovered that Judge McCarty had been too smart for him.

The judge told him never to show his face in Lake County again, and he never did.

### THE DAM IN CACHE CREEK

Have you ever heard an "Old Timer" of Lake County tell exciting stories about the dam built in Cache Creek by several men who called themselves the "Clear Lake Water Company"?

themselves the "Clear Lake Water Company"?

They came into the county in 1865 and bought a little grist mill that a man named Fowler had been running. When the Clear Lake Water Company owned the mill they wanted more water, for they planned to

build a larger grie ill and a saw mill, and thought they might even have a

At first all west well and the people were proud of the mills they were building and of the better town it was making at Lower Lake, then the county seat.

A grist mill was built and then the saw mill, and then plans were being made to self the waters to farmers much farther down the stream to water their thirty fields. They even thought they might carry water down the manner of the manner o

gates to they were able to raise water thirteen feet above the highest water mark.

The winter following the building of the dam was a very rainy one. All of the creeks flowing down from the mountains into the lake were full from bank to bank many times and the water kept rising higher and higher in the lake until no white man had ever sent is to high. Even the Indians said it had never come up so high.

The framer who had built their homes on the lake shore found their boutes and barns flooded and they had to leave them. The water came up over the control of the short of of the s

The next winder it was just as rainy as before so by that time the farm nes about the shore were destroyed.

During the second spring and summer there seemed to be an alarming amount of sickness among the people. There was a great deal of diptheria. Many children were sick, Sometimes all of the children in a family died. The people were very excited and anary because they believed that the high stagnant water caused their sickness.

The company was entreated to open the gates of the panel let the water flow away but they refused and paid no attention of the damage they were doing.

The cowners of the flooded land banded together and had a trial in the court, in Medocine County. The people won but the company took the case to the state court to be decided. Three times the county grand jury declared the dam a public unisance, and tried to have a trial in the Lake County court, but each time it failed because the state county of the county grand gr

# TEARING OUT THE DAM

When Judge Southard told the people that the law could not help them, they quickly decided that they must get if of the dam. Some of the leaders got together and sent messengers riding from house to house all over the upper end of the county to tell everyone that a more would be made on the dam next Saturday, November 14th. All was excitement in the houses at heme made rendy to go.

move would be made on the dam next Saturday, Novemoer 1 stn., All was excitement in the houses as the men made ready to go.

On Saturday morning the men began to gather in Lakeport. By noon about two hundred and fifty were there. They came with their gams and blankets, and with food to last a week.

These men went on to the appointed meeting place, the Lost Spring Ranch, about three miles west of Lower Lake, where other men came until a last blew were about three hundred and wettery-free in the crowd.

Lake to give the alarm.

That night they elected leaders to take charge of removing the dam and J. W. Meckall of Lakeport was chosen military commander. They planned to do veryting in perfect order.

On Sunday morning Mr. Mackall and ten men started very early for Lower Lake, arriving there are exactly 8 o'clock. They took charge of the court officer, as they fell are they were.

W. H. Manlove, sheriff, F. Herrenden, deputy sheriff, J. B.

Holloway, continuder, and Sarchel Bynum, county clerk. They also took possession was superintendent of the water company.

Soon the rest of the men arrived and at 8:30 o'clock they started on to tedam. Mr. Mackall and the ten me went ahead as before.

When they arrived at the mill they took charge of the four men they found there.

As soon as the main body of men came, forty of them were placed on ard in every direction around the mill so that no one from outside ald disturb them. These guards were relieved by others every two

hours.

When all of these plans were completed, the real work began. A Baptist minister was there and when all was ready to begin, he came to the date of the control of th

On Monday morning the stones of the dam were taken away with a block and tackle. Then the sill was taken out.

When the dam was out the water rushed with such force that it turned logs end over end and the creek below was filled full of water for miles. As soon as the work was over the men returned to their homes to tell the story to the women and children and to watch the water of the lake go down off the farms.

#### STORIES OF THE EXPEDITION TO THE DAM

Some amusing stories are told of things which took place while men of Lake County were moving against the dam in Cache Creek.

One tells what happened in Lower Lake while men were on their way to the mill.

to the mill.

The people were taken by surprise and everyone came out to see what was going on. The county officers were angry at being held by the crowd.

The sheriff wished to talk to them. He stood upon the sear of a wagon and as he said "read the Riot Act to them." They listened quilety but when he had finished he was told to all down on the sear and say there. He did so. The judge was restless but saw he could do nothing.

Most amussing of all was Sacrib Byunn, county clerk. He was very nervous and declared he would not end to the county of the same and declared he would not be sufficient to the county of the same and declared he would not be sufficient to the same and declared he would not be sufficient to the same and declared he would not be sufficient to the same and declared he would not be sufficient to the same and the same an

righty years old, a very small man, and had a very long old-ly-lond gun.

When Mr. Byrum said he would not stand it and stilled to move away, the old mountaineer backed off until he could level the long-barrield gain at him and shouted, "Stand, Sarchel, I say stand," And Sarchel stood.

Sarchel stood.

Mr. Bymum never liked to hear the story, but it became a favorite one on all occasions and he was forced to hear it many times in later years.

A story is told of a man known as Uncle George Tucker, who was ent to Guenoc to intercept any messages the mill owners might be sending out for help. Uncle George worked out a sly plan to find out what messengers were being sent.

and to Annual Comments and the Annual Comments and the

#### STORIES ABOUT EARLY ROADS

They tell us that the first product hauled out of this county was cheese, and very good cheese it was, too, as it had the name of being the best in the state. Within four or five years at least seven cheese factories had been set up.

had been set up.

Wherever they went out to market with their products, they always
brought back supplies they needed in the homes and on the ranches.
Sometimes they drove hogs all the way to the mines in the sierra
Mountains, going only a few miles each day and allowing them to feed

\_53\_

upon acorns, if were making the trip in the fall.

upon acorns, if were making the trip in the fall.

At that time the road wans it a very good one, it was really more like a trail. After they had gone all the way to Napa for several years to do their marketing, a new road was built over the summit of the mountains to the west. It was called the "Old Cloverdale Road" and "Hard Scramble." Later a longer one was built by Square Creek. It had a better grade.

The Dodon road was built in 1865, and the Matt Lea toll road was the standard of the

other end.

Late zone roads were paid for by the county and some were allowed to go free. The Blue Lake toll road, which ran from Upper Lake to Uklah, was made free in 1896.

The Highlands Springs and Squaw Rock toll road was built in 1891 through the rocks of the mountain. As one rock looked like a women, it was called Squaw Rock and so that road was named Squaw Creek and Squaw Rock Rock.

Before this time, in 1888, a family with several young girls came over that road. An uncle of the girls met the family in Cloverdale.

It was a long, hard trip for the girk had to ride up on the top of things on the wagon and every time the wheels went down into a deep rut, of course the wagon inteped and acted as if it might roll down the hill. Finally, the girk begged to be allowed to walk for a while. This tooks or much time that the uncle frightment deem back to the wagon by eling them torstend wild animate that might report sudentime. That night they campor a sudentime that the campor as declared to the wagon by eling them torstend the campor as the course of the campor as the campor

Years later one of these gith married a man who did freight hauling and often told of the hardships they suffered. She said that she made the trip with her husband from Lakepotr to Hoplands to that she could drive the horses while the man walked and lifted the wheels out of the deep mud every little while. He had, also, to set the brakes when the horses rested because she couldn't handle the reins of four horses and the brake at the same time.

The legs of the horses often sank out of sight in the mud. They would pull a little way, then rest, Often the snow would make such balls on the horses' feet that they could hardly walk. Sometimes it was necessary to unload part of the goods and return to get it later. They used four or six

horses on such trips and it took all day and a night to reach aland when the roads were bad. There were often bells on the horses to warm others that they were coming.

There were great loads of grapes, wheat, or barley, sometimes quieteliver in iron bottles from Sulphur Banks, or bales of hops to be hauled out of Lake County, and the roads were much steeper than they are now. Lumber and other supplies were brought back over the mountains.

mountains.

Popole traveling in stages came to Bartlett Springs to drink the people traveling in stages came to Bartlett Springs to drink the mineral water for their health. They usually brought their things in large neary trunks. These has to be leaded on to boats, carried across the lake, then lifted again onch estages.

men mited again onto the stages.

Only strangers were afraid to ride over the roads. There were few robberies because the travelers had little to steal.

Mr. Benton L. Thomas, called "Benty" lived in the county ever since he was a small boy and for many years stove over the mountains with freight. One day and the mountains with freight. One day and the stage of the county of the stage of the

The constable went after them but was killed by th

ine constance went after them but was killed by the robbers.

On the Pieta road robbers took the treasure box from the stage but some hunters who lived nearby tracked them to a cabin on the mountain, aptured them, and saved the box.

captured them, and saved the box.

Out of Middledown there was a place on the road where the stage passed carrying money for pay for the miners who worked in the Creat Western Mine. See the control of the control of

Mr. Thomas said they usually drove hogs when they took them to market. One day when he was helping to drive over three hundred hogs along the mountain road, they suddenly became frightened and were lost as they scattered among the rocks and down into the creek. The men found that there was a bear in the road ahead but it and en of difference to the hogs that he was a tame, trick bear being led along the way by an Italian, his owner.

It took the men three days to gather up the hogs again.

Auto stages did not take the place of those drawn by horses until 1907

BOATS

Probably the first boats on Clear Lake were those made of tules by the Indians. These canoes were not dry inside because they sank a little into the water but kept afloat.

As the years went by better boats were made, and even sailing crafts were used. The first sailhoat was the sixteen-foot "Plunger" owned by J. Bromon Smith. It was said to have been the fattest sailing boat.

Broome Smith. It was said to have been the tastest saling boat.

It was in 1949 that the first boat used by the white men were seen the county, when the soldiers surrounded the Indians at Bloody Islam The soldiers transported two whale boats from Benicia on wagons. The were the first boats and the first wagons.

were the first bosis and the fight vagons.

Cape R. S. Phod owned the first steamer, "Hallie," which was piloted by J. K. Francer in 1873. When this boat was brought over Mt. St. Helena, has wagon, sattempting a short both was brought over Mt. St. Helena, has wagon, sattempting a short both seament and the steamer lay blocking the public road for twenty-sit hours or more. Here was the queer sight of a steamer bying anon the ground, feel up, some three thousand waters of the lake as if nothing had happened. The "Hallie" was a little steam yacht.

waters of the lake as it nothing had happened. The "Hallie" was a little campyacht. Carrett was the next incame and built in Lakeport, 75 feet hots and 14 feet wide, with a stern puddle wheel. In 1875, Capt. Floyd brought in a small ocean steamer, seventy-eight feet in lenth, with a beam of nine feet three inches, and a six foot depth of hold. This bost was known as the "City of Lakeport." It contained two should be a steamer of the contained was the state of the contained was the state of the contained was the state of the state of

Later gasoline motors made it easy to go about the lake in small craft, which was quite a popular way to travel until the coming of the automobile and improved roads, which superseded their use to a large

Gay crowds of picnickers often chartered the East Lake or the City of

Lakeport and spent a happy day touring around the shore the lake visiting various points of interest.

visiting various points of interest.

The crowds were large, a scow, ordinarily used to haul loads of wood or other freight, would be towed behind the steamer to accommodate the extra people.

Another recreation of that day was sailing, and several sail boats could often be seen on the lake.

Capitan Artherton, an old set capitain, conducted a boating business for nearly a score of yearn or excursions.

The conducted of the conducted and possible services of yearn excursions.

C. F. May built the Pocahontas and used it for an excursion boat for several years.

SCHOOLS

The first real school in Big Valley was located about 150 yards southwest of the present Lyon Frarer home not far from Acciaw's dough. This school was housed in a save been a former residence. Its origin is uncertain as it was used as a school house and for church on Sunday as early as 187 or '58. The furnishings were very crude, nothing much more than a few better as the state of th

school in write: in a voice presidence, with Amanda Ogal as teacher.

During this time many more families were settling in Big Valley, and a trading post was established in 1866, at what is now the Argonaut Farm, with a store conducted by Gus MaKloski, and a blacksmith shop was

ROATS

Probably the first boats on Clear Lake were those made of tules by the Indians. These canoes were not dry inside because they sank a little handle to be the control of the

feet long and 14 feet wide, with a stern paddle wheel.

In 1875, Capt. Floyd brough it is a small ocean steamer, seventy-eight feet in lenth, with a beam of nine feet three inches, and a six foot depth of hold. This boat was known as the "City of Lakeport," it contained two engines capable of making eighteen miles per hour.

Many other boats were in active service carrying passengers and freight. Other steamers were built here to be used for pleasure and freights. Other steamers were built here to be used for pleasure and freights. Other steamers were built here to be used for pleasure and freights. Other steamers were built here to be used for pleasure and freights. Other steamers have seven the seventh of the seventh of the steamers of the steamers, who lived at the preent site of Lucena.

People who then lived on the shores of the lake found their easiest means of visiting the county seat was by boat and many of them owned their own steam boats.

Later gasoline motors made it easy to go about the lake in small craft,

Later gasoline motors made it easy to go about the lake in small craft, which was quite a popular way to travel until the coming of the automobile and improved roads, which superseded their use to a large

Gay crowds of picnickers often chartered the East Lake or the City of

Lakeport and spent a happy day touring around the shor the lake visiting various points of interest.

visiting various points of interest.

If the crowds were large, a scow, ordinarily used to haul loads of wood or other freight, would be towed behind the steamer to accommodate the extra people.

Another recreation of that day was sailing, and several sail boats could often be seen on the lake.

could often be seen on the lake.

Capitan Artherton, an old sea capitain, conducted a boating business for nearly a score of years. He had a yacht, the "Petret," which often carried a jolly crowd on short executions.

A little later, C. F. May built the Pocahontas and used it for an excursion boat for several years.

The first real school in Big Valley was located about 150 yards southwest of the present Lyon Fraser home not far from McGaw's shough. The control of the present Lyon Fraser home was the school of the propose, or it may have been a former residence. Its origin is uncertain as it was used as a school house and for church on Sunday as early as 187 or '58. The furnishings were very crude, nothing much more than a few backless benches.

early as 1857 or '98. The furnishings were very crude, nothing much more than a few backless benches.

The next school was on the Brian O'Hara ranch on the Lakeport road near the place where the James Combs house now stands. This school bouse, not much more than a cabin, burned in the new control bouse, not much more than a cabin, burned in the new control to the control of the school state. The first order of the state of the school state of the school state of the school state. The first order of the school state of the school schoo

-57-

-57-

owned by Bearl. A building was provided for a church and school house, and land given by Dan Giles, the original owner and a cheesemaker.

In a received the first school was built in Kelleyville at the late Bert Young, a D. Merit, Miss Behn, J. H. Renfron and S. T. Depender. A D. Merit, Miss Behn, J. H. Renfron and S. T. Depender. A Depender of the property of the

Opper Lake.

The largest school in early Lake County was the Pleasant Grove School on the road between Lakeport and Upper Lake. Many adults attended this school.

attended this school.

One of the most interesting school histories we have was left by the Big Valley Mission School established by a German order of St. Boniface friars of San Francisco. For years it was the only school in the county for Indians. Some white boys attended for religious instruction. The brothers might often be seen in their robes harvesting in the fields. That district on the way to Lakesde Park was known for years at the Mission Ranch.

# THE MOUNTAIN INSTITUTE

THE MOUNTAIN INSTITUTE

One of the early schools in Lower Lake, the Mountain Institute, was established probably in the 70%, with Afr. 1, lowe as principal, it has sent the sent the sent the sent that the sent the sent

\_58\_

The first commencement was held Jure 9th, 1881, G. as Wm. J. Mewhinney received the B. A. Degree, James L. Wood received the M. A. Degree, with S. K. Welch and Control of the M. A. Degree, with S. K. Welch and Control of the M. A. Degree, with S. K. Welch and Control of the M. A. Degree, with S. K. Welch and Control of the Green of the M. A. Degree of the Intervention of the M. A. Degree of the M. A. Degree of the Intervention of the M. A. Degree of the Intervention of the M. M. A. Degree of the M. A. Degree of the M. A. Degree of the M. M. A. Degree of the M. Degree of the M.

Profesor John Overholser was for so many years associated with the cause of higher education in the county that the history of one was practically the record of the other. When the scadenty was started in the old public school building on the conter of Third and Forbes Streets. In 1890 a permanent structure was erected. To the academy steed belonged the honor of being the first establishment in the county with the exception of Tecler Latke College, now defunct.

Pennsylvania, Duch Parentage, and native of New York County, Pennsylvania Duch Parentage, and native of New York County, Pennsylvania, the professor was born in 1851. His own self-support and force of will enabled him to graduate from High School and to pursue the scientific and classical course in Adrian (Michigan) College, from which he was graduated with honors in 1880.

he was graduated with honors in 1880.

Teaching was his life's work. Through his interest in the treatbilishment of a library in Lakeport he became a leader in literary circles. While he took we never sought of the control of the library his tastes leading him to scholarly parasits. He spent much time on the lake in his small boat, putting in to shore wherever he happened to be. Became he was told that the fluid he had to the proposed discovery that a landslife had out off the outflow of a stream running through what is now Blue Lakes to join the Russian River, hus forming the lakes. He reported his findings to the University of California, and we will be the proposed to the proposed his proposed to the proposed of the propo

Many prominent and successful people were graduated from the academy and students came from Mendocino and Colusa counties to enjoy the advantages of this school. -59-

Among records of the early days, the office of County Superintendent of Schools has the minutes of a Teacher's Institute held in present. Discussion in section brought out interesting points such as, too little attention was given to music; physiology should begin with the bones, they being the foundation; publicosply could be introduced into every recitation, if there were time; teachers should know more than is given in text books.

After all had risen "arm exercises," discussions were resumed and it was resolved that the Institute has "conduced" largely to both pleasure and profit. A Mr. Hughes was appointed to arrange with the captain of the steamboar for an excursion on Clear Lake.

the stamboat for an excursion on Clear Lake.

At an Institute held in 1876 it is reported that Miss Mattie C. Black
gave a reading of length which was listened to with close attention. The
fore was entitled "The High Tade" or "The Brids of Beaches", by Jean
fore was entitled "The High Tade" or "The Brids of Beaches", by Jean
Released Commission, Not General Culture is the Province of Our Public Schools."

In the last meeting recorded, October 6th, 1832, there is presented a
pleasing vision of the future of Lake County "when the shores would be
thickly dorted with palacial residences and the hilliops crowned with
invaperad."

vineyards."

In all ages, scholarly men have amused their more practical fellows by letting their minds wander far afield from the mere routine of life. In this respect Lake County's pioneer superintendent of schools, Mack Matthews, qualified well as the absentimided professor.

tthews, quantied wen as the absentininged professor.

This habit led him into many amusing predicaments, recounted with ch pleasure by his associates.

Mack was a farmer and stock man in addition to being an educator.

Mack was a farmer and stock man in addition to being an educator.

It is told that on one occasion he wished to take his farm wagon from one field to another. There being no gas, he was obliged to take down the fence. This he did, all the while having his mind buys with a very different problem. Much to his chagrin, when he came back to concisioness of the immediate scene, he found he had rebuilt the fence without driving through.

Another time, so goes the story, he drove out into his pasture with a load of lumber to build a sheep pen. After working hard for several hours the enclosure was completed, but—there was his wagon inside the pen and a lot of tearing down must be done to get it out.

Perhaps the most amusing of these tales which we are told, is about

The time he forgot his name.

A new postmaster had just taken office. Mr. Matthews walked up to
the window and aked for his mail. Not knowing him, the postmaster said,
"What's the name, please?"

"A new postmaster said, so the changed to
the construction spread over Mack's face, then changed to

A look of consternation spread over Mack's face, then changed to one of thoughtfulness. Saying "I'll be back" he hastily gained the sidewalk and went down the street peering anxiously into the faces of those he met.

those he met.

At last he met a friend who called out, "Hello, Mack." Mack stopped short, saying exultanth "That's it."

Not waiting to greet his friend, he abruptly faced about, went back to the postoffice and asked for his mail, receiving it without delay.

# OURCES AND INDUSTRIES

One of the early industries of Lake County that was intimately associated with every household, was that of chair-making. In the year 1867 Austin Akter, with his on William, began the manufacturing of market of furniture greatly needed by the increasing number of families, not only in Lake County, but also in neighboring counties.

The materials used for these chairs were maple and ash wood, and rawhide. The materials used for these chairs were maple and ash wood, and rawhide. The maple was obtained from Cobb Mourtain, and the sah from Scotts Valley. At that time Scotts Valley. At that time Scotts Valley and sensely wooded and the sah trees were easily procured. With a small lathe operated by hors-power at first and later by water power, the rounds and posts were turned. The point were made of green wood and then by steaming them were next bent with strips of rawhide. The rawhide was made from these fluids by the same that the word of the same from the same three waters and the word of the same from the disk bought from the neighboring farmers. These hides were soaked in a solution of water and ashes which removed all the hair. Then the lake was writed and, when dry, was cut round and round into strips about one-half inch wide. After motivening these trips, he satt of the chair was weven to the wide. After motivening these trips, he satt of the chair was weven to the strengthened the frame.

These chairs were placed in stores all over the county and met with a ready sale, not only because there were few other chairs to be had, but because they were so well built and so comfortable to use.

As settlers were rapidly coming into the Sacramento Valley, Mr.
Akers often took a load of a hundred or more of his chairs there and readily disposed of them. This industry existed from 1867-75.

### MINES AND MINING

MINES AND MINING

Sulphur Banks forms a long low ridge which skirts the south shore of
the extreme eastern end of Clear Lake.

Rock composing the main body of this ridge is of volcanic origin,
chiefly basalfic lava.

chiefty basaltic lawa.

An historian of 1873 says the banks covered an area of nearly 40,000 square yards and it seemed to be permeated with hot borate springs.

One of these springs near the lake was estimated by Dr. J. A. Veatch to yield 300 gallons per minute.

State geologist, J. D. Whitney, made an analysis of the water and

und that when crystalized there were 195.33 grains of boto to the gallon. Large amounts of ammonical salts were also present. At a distance the banks appeared to be composed of pure sulphur, and the material, on being refined, yielded 80 per cent of that material.

For a time the banks were mined only for sulphur. Then it was covered that the ore was cinnabar, a combination of sulphur and rcury (quicksilver).

At least two stories are told about how the ore was recognized as cinnabar. Some old settlers say that a teacher who had lived near the New Almaden mine visted the furnaces where sulphur was being obtained and on looking at the ore told the superintendent that they were throwing away mercury, a much more valuable mineral than sulphur.

Another story is that when heating the ore to extract the sulphur the ers noticed the globules of quicksilver released by the heat.

miners noticed the globules of quicksilver released by the heat.

The California Borax Company, operating just over the hills at Borax Lake, became interested and organized the Sulphur Banks Quicksilver Mining Company in 1873. They installed the best available mining equipment and there following many years of productive output, years and the average monthly production, at the time, was \$40,000. Harry Lightner was the first superintendent.

The company made over 800 flasks of quicksilver in a few months. The flask was an old Spanish measure used all over the world. It was made of iron as that was the best material to hold the mercury, It weighed about 90 pounds.

For a time 1000 people lived at the mine, 600 of them Chinamen who worked in the fumes of the furnaces and retorts.

The ridge was so full of hot springs that work could not be done down very far below the ground surface.

Production grew gradually less and operations fell off from year to

year.

In 1901, R. A. Boggess promoted a new company for Sulphur Banks, the Abbott Mines and the Central and Empire mines in Colusa County, to be financed by sale of stocks in the East, but the mines opened only briefly.

When World War I came on, Sulphur Banks mine was opened, the old dumps worked over the new shafts opened and large amounts of quicksilver produced for war use. Afterward the mine was closed down, but at the advent of World War Il operations started again. Later methods of mining by use of power

\_61\_

shovels were used by which vast amounts of materials were removed, thus creating enormous pits. In this way rich deposits were uncovered which add been missed by the old tunnel methods.

The demand fell at the close of the war and at this date (1948) the mine is closed again.

# GREAT WESTERN MINE

The Great Western Mine to the south and west of Middletown was discovered about the same time as Sulphur Banks.

This mine was operated extensively from 1876 until the end of the century, with Andrew Rocca as superintendent. Over \$3,000,000 worth of cinnabar was taken out during that period. The mine was by then quite thoroughly exhausted and Mr. Rocca moved on to the Helen Mine in Napa Country.

Other quicksilver mines near Middletown were the Mirabel and the Oat Hill, the later partly in Lake and partly in Napa County.

# LUMBERING

LUMBERING

When the first settlers came to our county, they hewed out the timbers for their homes by hand, but as more people came, small mills were built in A very early mill was in the Long Valler country, but no not fer first was built by Thomass Boyd neart the west spee of Mr. Hannah in 1858. It was a saw and grist mill combined, although there was no belt for flour af first. This mill burned 1 1860 but was rebuilt on the road between Keheyille and Cubb Valley. It had a capacity of 10,000 into procession of 14. C. Boggs in 1860. Later on it was moved into the victing of Harbin Springs. Numerous other mills have operated in that section of the county, but space will not permit giving their hatory. In the northern end of the 1860's was the Lee Young Mills on Elfs. Mountain. Another was Demnison Mill on Italie Horse Mountain. Lumbering was never a main industry in Lake County but always there have been some mills free. At present, 1947, the Parther Company operate a mill on Elik.

At present, 1947, the Prather Company operates a mill on Elk

intain.

There is also the Whitely Mill just south of Mt. Hannah.

MINERAL SPRINGS AND SUMMER RESOR

1

Lake County, very early in its history, became a resort country Mineral springs abound in all sections of the county. Located within a few feet of each other are often seven or eight different mineral waters. Many of these have become noted for their medicinal properties.

About these springs there sprung up hotels and cottages and soon there were a dozen or more resorts scattered about the county.

were a gozen or more resorts scattered about the county.

Others were soon built on the shores of Clear Lake and the Blue Lakes until Lake County became a summer playground and health resort for the people of California cities.

The guest at these places usually came on the stages which met them at the nearest railroad station. They spent their vacation of from one to three weeks at the springs, so that for about two months each summer the country througed with tourists.

Four or six horse stage coaches were a common sight dashing about the country with gay crowds visiting the different resorts.

A great change came with the automobile and improved roads. The auto camp has thrived at the expense of the hotels, many of which have closed their doors or kept on in a small way only. Notable exceptions in our county are Hoberg's Resort and Adams

Ings.
Hoberg's—A Pioneer Story from "The Grizzly Bear"—1946.

Hoberg's—A Ploner Story from "The Grizoly Beat"—1946.

On Thanskpiving Day in 1855, Guest Hoberg came to Lake County with his suit and free challene. They studed in the mountains in the very with the control of the challene. They studed in the mountains in the very land, one hundred and sixty acres. The timy cabin was too small for the family, they owned no breatock of raining equipment, the wagnon rust turned into a mite of mud, and that first winter extra severe, but Gustav proved a good provider.

good provider.

Many stories are told of those early years. Once a terrific storm sent a pigantic pine creathing directly beside the fullst eabih, but no one was hurt. Let the provider of the day the supply soon exceeded the demand. At that time the provider of the day of the provider of the provider

The oldest son, Max, was growing to be a help to his father, but in 1895 Gustav Hoberg died. The next seven years were hard. Guests still came over

the rough rough in summer but now there was competition with other new resorts.

The years have brought many changes. New cottages needle among the pines, a big hotel was built, a swimming pool and dance pavillion were added. The first tennis court in Lake County was laid out. The dinning room we enlarged and the acres grew to half a thousand. Hoberg's today is a small sized city.

It took three generations to build the place and the brothers still have additional plans in mind,

#### BORAX LAKE

Borax Lake, a short distance northwest of Lower Lake, was discovered in the early 1850's by Dr. J. A. Vestch.

It is told that in the dry season when the water was very low a crust of borax crystals extended nearly across the lake and at first quantities of it was taken off by the use of flatboats which were loaded with scoop showch.

Soon the California Borax Company was organized and operated until 1869, hauling the mineral to the Bay area. The station about half way on the route used for hauling out the borax (and later, quicksilver) was called

fiddletown.

On the bottom of Borax Lake was a jelly like bed of black mud
intaining large quantities of borax crystals and below this a deep layer of
ue clay. This strata as far down as tested (some sixty feet) was highly
arged with this material.

charged with this material.

The industry at Borax Lake flourished for several years, and it is said that an English summary, which then controlled the borax output of the world, offers and so the holdings at Little Borax Lake at the foot of Mr. 150,000 for that and other holdings at Little Borax Lake at the foot of Mr. Koncoti on the north. The offer was not accepted.

Some early settlers believed that the mining for borax was ruined by a poor method of obtaining the mineral.

Doe superindants bored many holes down through the blue clay, hoping that to be able to lift our huge sections of the mineral bearing strata. However, these borings struck fresh water undernast which filled the lake so that the crystale on the surface were permanently destroyed.

However, some eight or nine years ago, telephone linemen in process of esting poles foround large deposits of orystals in the solinear the lake shore. The decrease of contract the contract of the shore of large quantities of easily obtainable borax in Death Valley and the contract of the shore. The decrease of the abandonment of borax mining in Lake County.

#### PIONEER CROPS

d The most important crops in early Lake County were various grains and hay. As fast as the valley lands were cleared of brush and oaks, fields of wheat, oats, barley and corn were planted and were almost the only crops for

many years.

At first they yielded abundantly on the new land, but the introduction of fruit growing came just in time to solve the problem of soil exhaustion because of being planted too long to the same crops.

Alfalfa crops also grew in favor and are helping to return fertility to the

#### A STORY ABOUT STRING BEANS

History tells us that in 1899, Mr. Henry Wambold started farming a small piece of land near Blue Lakes, where he owned a recort known as many that the property of the propert

L.

Later Mr. C. L. Tyndall tried to raise beans in Big Valley and to start
ther cannery in Lakeport but it failed after a few seasons.
Mr. A. Mendenhall set up a cannery near Upper Lake in 1897, and it has
successfully every season since then. Sometimes it has given work to 400
neit in a season.

propels in a season. Season when the through the propels in a season before he studied a way to different in the beginning from the broad. Canning was very different in the beginning from the branch, which were placed in cans and then in crates and lowered into the water. The cans were soldered by hand.

They used to keep their formula for cooking the beans a secret.

Mr. R. H. Sneed, who was in charge of part for the weak, tells us that at one time they trief to till gallet made among different operations for several board in a secret. Some properties of the several control of the second before the studied a way to can the gallon size so they would be

-67-

perfect.

Today the Upper Lake Co. cans beets, carrots, and other vegetables besides beans. They use crimping machinery to close the cans and large steam retorts for cooking the vegetables.

retorts for cooking the vegetables.

They used to put on the labels by hand, folling each can on a pile of labels having the ends wet with paste. Today this also is done by machinery. It was while living near that first cannery that Mrs. Wambold used to watch the Indians as they passed on their way to Ukish. They carried on their twatch the Indians as they passed on their way to Ukish. They carried on their twatch the Indians as they passed on their way to Ukish. They carried on their twatch of the Indians as they passed to their way to Ukish. They carried on their twatch of the Indians the Indians that to unded for mode algosing that the Indians that sounded queer to the white settlers.

They usually stoped at the lower end of Blue Lakes for their noon, meal. Some would go into the water and gather clams, others would hunt for wild angelion and their rotes which they peeled.

What they want to the Indians the Indian

It was here, too, that Mr. Wambold caught in a trap a lone beaver. The little animal kept filling up the outlet for water which Mr. Wambold wished to keep clear. Finally he was killed by the trap but Mr. Wambold was sorry afterwards that he had caught him. No one knew where he came from.

#### EARLY ORCHARDS

Nearly all pioneers of Lake County planted fruit trees of various kinds for family use, but the largest planting of orchards and vineyards were made the control of the con

In addition, about ten acres were used for vegetables and garden fruits, most of which were sold to the miners at Sulphur Banks and in the Middletone acres

Middletown area.

Mr. R. K. Nichols, superintendent of the farm, constructed three large valuals for wine storage in the solid rock at the end of a tumel 100 feet long. These vanits had a capacity of 500,000 gallom.

These vanits had a capacity of 500,000 gallom.

End of the property by Thomas Bukerighant, of San Francisco. Table and wine grapes and choice fruits of all kinds made up his ninety acre orchard.

Lake County fruits won special attention at the Worlds at New Orleans in 1885, where an exhibit was collected and arranged L. Lalifornia by W. H. Jessyp. One apple weighed over two pounds and several Bartlett pears over one pound each. Lake Con

A quotation from San Francisco Chronicle of December 16th, 1885

says.
"Without doubt the finest as well as the largest exhibit of fresh fruit in the display is that made by Lake County."

#### WALNUTS IN LAKE COUNTY

The first walnut orchard in our county was planted about 1880 by A. A. Whoeler, on the shores of Clear Lake below Konocti Bay, on the property now owned by Joseph M. McDonough. This orchard was planted with seedling trees, those produced by planting the nuts. There were several varieties. Many of them were of poor varieties but a few of the trees produced such high quality nuts that other people in the neighborhood became interested.

One of these, Walter Reichert, some years later planted a large orchard a few miles away and it is now very productive.

The first commercial planting was made by George B. Wilds a little farther south in the Mountain District about twenty-five years ago. The trees are Franquettes.

seements use rooman District about twenty-five years ago. The trees are Franquettes.

Soon after that more orchards were planted on the slopes of Mt. Konocci. Among fines were the Howe and Taylor orchards and also that of Euvelle Howard on the track known as "The Horse." The Taylor orchard now owned by Herndon brothers at one time belonged to J. B. Lugshlin.

Mr. Laughlin was so proud of his fine walnuts that he, in 1922, sent a few of them to Luther Burbank. In enture he received a letter from him in which he said they were as fine nuts as he had ever seen and that he believed that no finer could be grown anywhere in the world.

Mr. Burbank's opinion caused much interest in walnut culture in Lake County and soon there were more young orchards on the favorable slopes of County and soon there were more young orchards on the favorable slopes of Lakeport.

Lakeport.

Owners of fine old black walnut shade trees planted by the early settlers began top grafting them over to the improved French varieties. When these grafted trees began to produce large quantities of fine nuts more and more young trees were planted.

Lake County walnuts have won blue ribbons year after year at the State Fair at Sacramento.

The large. The produced in Lake County was four hundred eighty-one tons in 1935, but growing orchards assure much greater tonnage in a few years.

One variety of walnut, known as "The Poe," which has won high rating in the markets originated in Lake County. The first Poe trees belonged to George H. Foree of Lakeport and grows in the yard of his old home on Armstrong Street.

Mr. Force, in 1885, selected from the catalogue of Felix Gillett, owner of the Baren Hill Nunrery at Nevada City, four prepartarian walnut trees, then planted them in his yard for shade trees. Three trees grew true to type, but the foorthw so of all different variery. In that been planted in a divorable spot and as it received plenty of water, it grew to be about skey feet in height with a systead of skay feet. The tree is probably a seedling of other prepartarian.

or Mayette type.

Mr. Oscar Poe, for whom the Poe walnut is named, and who made walnut grafting and budding a business, became interested in this wonderful tree and its great production of high grade nuts.

He top grafted some large old black walnut shade trees in Scotts Valley with scions from it. They bore so well that the Poe nut became more and more popular. Now there are many trees of this variety in the northern end of

Other varieties grown extensively here are Frainquites, Mayettes, and Paines. It is interesting to know how these nuts received their names.

The first development of the walant from the black types occurred in Peresia. They may be a first development of the walant from the black types occurred in Peresia. They may be a first development of the Peresia. They may be a first development of the Peresia. They may be a first development of the Peresia they be a first development of the Peresia they have been a first development of the Peresia they are they are they are they are the Peresia they are the peresia they are the are they are the

1879.

The Mayette was originated in France by a man named Mayet about 1768. Likewise the Franquette was originated about the same time by a man named Franquet.

not be a common and the same time by a man. We have some new varieties in California, among them the Eurekas. Note-1947.

There has been great development in the last decade in the Lake County ust industry as many groves have come into bearing and many more have planted.

Ten years ago there were about 3500 acres of trees, 1500 of which were black walnuts ready for grafting. In 1947, 8000 acres were in bearing and produced about 1200 tons.

In 1946, a better year for walnuts, the tonnage was about 1: tons, and brought the highest price in history.

From the fall of 1946 to spring 1948, 1000 acres of land had been cleared for walnuts and 500 of them planted. There is still much activity in developing walnut lands.

## LAKE COUNTY PEARS

Many pioneer settlers in Lake County planted large home orchards containing apples, pears, plums, peaches, cherries, grapes and other fruits. Some of these early plantings of apple and pear trees still survive and produce abundantly but many apple trees have been taken out because they are carriers of pear bight and the pear has more commercial value to our county than the apple.

county than the apple.

When preparations were being made by California for an exhibit of products at the Worlds Fair at New Orleans in 1885, a committee from the state came into Lake County and collected apples and pears to be shown there.

there.

The Bardett pears attracted much attention from the exhibition committee and one of them remarked that if he were a young man he would buy land in Lake County and plant Bartett Pears.

That remark as some of the evaluation metal or change and that same year, IRM of the pears of the evaluation metal or change and that same year, IRM of the pears when the present Nat HuriPout or Blower place in Big Valley.

In 1889, L. P. Clendenin of Scotts Valley planted three acres of the reletts and two of Winter Nellis. Plantings in 1890 were by J. B. Laughlin, o planted nine acres, and George Akers, six acres, both in Kelseyville; and

five acres by J. W. Annette at Finley. In 1891, Lewis Henderson planted twenty acres near Kelseyville and kept adding to this until he had one hundred and twenty acres in his orchards. As these trees came into bearing the marketing of the fruit began to be a problem on account of the distance to a railway, combined with the slow facilities of mountain transportation of those days. Experiments were made with drying and it was discovered that the Bartlett Pear makes a most attractive dried fruit. "Slabs of amber" is a name often applied to them.

A large fruit dryer or evaporator was established near Kelseyville in 1887 by J. B. Laughlin and E. P. Clendenin. Apples and pears were dried at this plant.

High prices received for the dried pears caused much more planting and

-71-

as the need can bury sheds were established in several places in Big Valley, Scotts Valley and at Upper Lake.

Scotts Valley and at Upper Lake.

As the best grades of the fruit were dried, Lake County dried pears became known as the finest in the world.

The California Packing Company became interested and established a plant, enlarging is at the crops increased until the largest dry yard for pears in the world was at Relseyville. The dried pear output in 1922 was a thousand tosts.

tons. Up to 1923 practically all of the fruit was dried, though a few tons were sent to canners and a few more sold fresh in California markets. In 1923 the tonnage became so great that the orchardists looked for a new outlet. That summer most of the fresh fruit packers of central California built packing houses in Lake County and 1284 carloads of pears were shipped that year to Eastern markets.

Soon the California canners became interested and since that time the crop is handled by drying, by the canneries, by eastern shipping and a few tons are sold in the California fresh fruit markets. A peak crop 2 0,000 tons of pears was produced in 1928 but was slightly excelled in 1935 when the tonnage reached 20,844. Note: The Barlette pear was first raised in this country in New York State and the first tree is still living and still producing well although it is many years old.

rs out.

Probably the first pear tree to be planted in Lake County was by jamin Dewell at his home near Upper Lake. The tree still stands, the old ne now being owned by his daughter, Mrs. Lottie Jones.

Lake County once boasted the largest dry yard for pears in the world but of changes have taken place in the industry since the beginning of World

many changes have taken pakes in the analysis.

We HI. A trying program has declined until it has little importance due:
The trying to the use of new prays materials, one of which makes it easy to
endicate worse from the fruit, while the application of another prevents the
large drop usual in past years, thus reducing the tomage used for drying.

Second: the exactive and high cost of labor both in the orrhards and in
the dry yards has made it unprofitable to use the fruit that drops.

A third and most important reason is that much of the fruit formerly
used for drying is now canned as diced fruit or as baby food and brings a
better price than dried pears.

In addition to the large tomage now canned, many carloads are shipped
to exattern marked or exported.

Also the California fresh fruit market, especially in the s Angeles, and at San Francisco Bay have risen in importance and the large part

output.

1946, Lake County marketed 26,965 tons at a price of \$2,347,472.00.

he 1947 crop amounted to 31,592 tons and brought a return of The 194 \$2,503,946.00

# PRUNES AND OTHER FRUITS

Prunes have been one of our important crops.

Pioneers in their planting were W. S. Mills, W. G. Young, David Helsebeek, D. W. Cook of the Quercus Ranch, F. W. Gibson and others of the Keiseyville and Lakeport sections. Most fruits not mentioned have been grown only in small quantities on bunt of marketing difficulties.

-70-

-72-



#### THE WOMAN WHO TURNED TO STONE

Long, long ago an Indian brave lived near the shores of Clear Lake with his wife. Their wigwam was large and comfortable. There was much game and fish, wild berries and pine nuts were plentiful, and the winters for many seasons had been mild and pleasant.

for many seasons had been mild and pleasant.

After a while this Indian became dissatisfied and began to find fault with his wife, She tried to lepace him in every way. She cooked the fish he limited that the state of the stat

to mest some friends.

Night: name as the tried to go over the bills. She was fired and sank to the ground. He storrow was to great that she had no more desire to live and there on the hillide with the young moon shingle down on her, she saked the Great Spirit to take her from this He. Her prayer was answered for, as the stood on the hillides, the was gradually changed into a large rock. You can still see the result to be supported by the strength of the str

# THE BATTLE OF THE GIANTS

Long ago when the Indians of Clear Lake Valleys gathered round their camp fires at night and the children pressed close begging for a story, their fathers told them many a tale that they themselves had heard from their own fathers.

There were stories of the sun, the moon, and the stars; stories of the creation of the world and of the beginning of the lake and mountains, rocks and trees.

The stories we now call legends were the bedtime stories of the little Indian boys and girls. an boys and girls.

Sometimes, after looking across the waters of the lake at the red--74-

stained ridges of Bartlett Mountain an Indian boy might ask
are there red streaks on the mountain side?"

Then he will hear this story:
"Many, many summers ago, two giants lived beside the lake. One
Kah-Bel made his home on Bartlett Mountain; the other Konocci, lived
where now stands the great mountain bearing his nach-pel gravir to love
Lapipouns, hear many stands and the stands of the stan

this day.

Desperately wounded, Konoci also soon died and his body sinking down became part of the mountain.

On the shore of the lake east of Soda Bay there may be seen many bubbling continuously from its depths, may be seen the toars of the shore of the rank, and in the waters of the bay, bubbling continuously from its depths, may be seen the team of the manufactor who, in depart, at the death of the forcer and free times of the forcer and free to the free to the

(Soda Springs).

Before making her desperate leap, Lupiyoma shed many tears which gathered into the bowl like depression now called Little Borax Lake. The bitterness of her tears made the waters brackish.

outerness of her tears made the waters brackish.

Once during the battle, Konocti poised to throw a huge stone. His foot slipped and pushed a great mass of earth from the mountain side out into the lake. It formed what we know as Buckingham Point.

Great ragged cliffs in the mountain side above Little Borax Lake still bears witness to the foundation of this story.

# HOW THE ROCKS CAME TO BE ALL OVER THE WORLD

In the far away times in the beginning of the word a mighty rock stood long by the blue water of Kaba-tin. He was not friendly and carabed many with paret strength.

Squirert, the Foolish Little One, showed his father where the mighty ock stood alone and dail, "Squirer will up to visit the rock. He is small but his heart is not afraid," His father made him a bow and many arrows to take with him.

Occasionally they came in contact with each other of marriage between the tribes was much opposed by both. In spite of our, the young braves and maidten were sometimes attracted to each other and wounded hearts often resulted. The story of one of these romances became a legend among the Hoolamapos, explaining to them the reason for a large treeless place on the slope of Mr. Konocci. di

forest or ingered along the shallows of the lake paddling her cannor.

On such a trip one spring morning the encountered a young man of
the unfriendly tribe fishing among the rooks. The two were at once
attracted to each other and talked long together. Before parting they
agreed to meet again and as the days passed, they were spending many
hour together. For a time these meeting passed unmoticed but before
long, friends of the girl entened how she spent her hours on the lake and
can be a supported to the state of the st

The chief was very angry. He upbraided his daughter and forbade her o alone on the lake in the future.

togo alone on the lake in the future.

The young brave waited in vain for her day after day. At length he learned the truth from some of the Hoolanapos. Determined not to lose the girl, he went, as was the customs of the Indians, and sat before the wigsam of her father, thus proclaiming himself as a suitor for her hand. The chief was enranged, bake him begone and ordered him to return no more to the land of the Hoolanapos.

The young man pleaded long and earnestly but to no avail. Then in despair he sought out a freind among the Hoolanapo boys and sent a message to the midnel proclaiming his undying love and begging her to they planned to chief the facility and the proclaiming his undying love and begging her to they planned to chief the facility of the planned to the planned to the planned the planned to the planned the planned to the planned to the planned to the planned the planned to the planned the p

Great Rock\*\* eccomed the Little Squirrel but held evil thoughts in his heart. They each tested the other's bow for strength. Squirrel's bow was very strong and did not break and when he took up the bow of Great Rock the nighty one laughed to himself, but when he saw that his bow snaped the simple of the state of the strength of the

"Much is wrong," replied Little Squirrel, "Great Rock waits to kill me."

Then the father brought a bow stronger than the other, and showed Little Squirrel where the heart of the Great Rock was. The bow string sang and straight flew the arrow into the heart of the Rock.

The pieces were scattered over the whole earth and still today they speak these things to all people who have the listening ear and the understanding heart.

#### THE LEGEND OF THE GRIFFIN

THE LEGEND OF THE CRIFFIN

This Indian legend was written by Miss Lily Martin of Lakeport, who said that she heard Chief Augustine tell it, not once, but many times.

Many hundred years before white men came to Lake County, there was a powerful rive of Indians living near what is now known as libse Lakes. The chief had a world man came and was taken in and caref for. The Indians had never seen anyone so fair before. The chief's duapher loved him and the chief whised them to marry, but suddenly the white man disappeared. The princes grieved herself to death and was changed to a white doe.

One day the wolf dogs chased the doe into the lakes, about where the narrows are, between the middle lake and the western one. The doe had to the control of the lakes and the control of the lakes and the western one. The for the lakes to be connected with Clear Lake under the earth. This fish was at least one hundred feet long.

Now, the Indians believed this middle lake to be bottomless and the tree lakes to be connected with Clear Lake under the earth. This fish was steldom seen and never came to the surface of the water except to warn

them of disaster of some sort, and when it appeared the old is a strand-over in their graves.

This tribe of Indians left the Blue Lakes country for Big Valley, and when they whisted to pass over to Ukiah Valley, used a trail over Cow Mountan. At the years went by a very wise Chiefrain, Konocci, was at the the big fish came to Central Ake in search of something to cat. But one but year there was little food and the Indians were depending upon a fish called hich for their winter supply. The "monster" came from Blue Lakes into Clear Lake and was eating all the hitch, so the Indians begged their chief to save them.

chief to save them. Konocit's wisyawa was built where the mountain of that name now stands. He raised his hand to heaven and commanded the wigwam to rise. It rose three times as high as the mountains in row, and as it was hollow, he toward the west, and Chelf Konocit put an animal somewhat like a dog, toward the west, and Chelf Konocit put an animal somewhat like a dog, but a signe as a horse, to guard this opening. This creature, or griffinn, was sightless, but its hearing was wonderfully acute. The mounter fish swam around the lake and at last smelled the hich and tried to get at them. Then the griffinn and the monater fought. They fought so freecely that the monater fought and a last reflexible they are of the property to the continuous constraints.

The monster returned to Blue Lakes and has never left them since, ough of the hitch were left to put back into Clear Lake.

: At this date, 1948, the hitch have practically disappeared from robably a victim of predatory fish.

#### LEGEND OF THE WHITE FAWN

There is a queer old Indian legend connected with the two upper lakes of Blue Lakes but which does not concern the lower out.

Long ago, a beautiful white faven level in the mountain sear these lakes. The Indian worshipped her at the godden of purp and timocrose. But the lates of the lake could come each day to drink of the crystal pure water.

The evil spirit saw the beautiful faven and wanted her to come and live with him. But the white fawn knew that she could never be happy in the logge of the evil one and would not go with him. This angered the evil spirit and he planned revenge.

quant and the pattern excepts.

He watched and saw that the drank daily of the waters of the lake. So he changed himself into a huge sea serpent and hid himself in the depths. In the white him of the water has a series of the lake was started to see the great sea monster coiling and writhing in the clear water. She stood still

place on the slope of Mt. Konocti.

The heroine of the story was the very beautiful daughter of one of their chiefs. This maiden often rode her pony through the tangles of the forest or lingered along the shallows of the lake paddling her canoe.

they planned to elude her faiher.

One night when the Indians were making merry in the village the young brave came with two ponies. Awaiting her chance when the gavety was at its height, the grid slipped away into the shadows and hurried to her waiting lover. Mounting the horses they rode swiftly and noiselessly away.

All might have been well had they not met a Holonapeo huntsman returning from a day in the mountains, who tried to stop them. Failing, he went quickly among his tribestenne giving the alarm.

went quickly among his tribesmen giving the alarm.

Soon a dozen horsemen were in pursuit and the lovers rode hard, urging their ponies to their utmost speed. Cut off from the easier routes around the mountain, they sped up its steep slope with the pursuers close behind.

oening.

As they approached the glades near the summit, the maiden's horse began to lag. She urged him on but just as they were about to pass over the ridge and start downward a huntsman of the pursuing Indians let fly an

arrow. The main's pony was hit and the brave animal reared to fall in a death plunge.

death plunge.

Quickly the lover lifted the girl to his own horse. On they fled and at last left the others far behind. Tradition has it that they lived happily ever after.

after.

In falling, the stricken pony stretched its length head downward on the mountain side. The Indians say that on that spot trees and shrubs never grew again.

Even today we may see the open glade on the mountain side, shaped like a horse lying with its head downward.

The horse, so called, has now been planted to walnut trees but even these fail to obscure the outline.

# THE TURNING OF KELSEY CREEK

Residents of Big Valley will be interested to know a story told about the Indians who many years ago lived where we now see orchards, grain file indians who man years ago lived where we now see orchards, grain file more than the story of the property of the story o

grandchildren. In Big Valley there were several tribes but the main ones were the Hoolanapos, who lived in the western part of the valley, and the Houlangos, who claimed the seatern part. Keley Creek, called by them the control of the tank of the control of that name and their homes around pie rocks of Mr. Konceil.

As you have read, the Indians did not raise their food in the fields but lived by hunting and fishing, gathering wild berries and fruits and on the roots of some of the wild plants.

roots of some of the wild plants.

In the spring of the year, then as now, there were many fish in the creeks and at spawning time Kelesy Creek was often black with hisch for two or three milles, but they were thickest nearer its nouth. That part was, the second of the contract of the creek to show where their battles were fought.

All this went on for many years and each tribe tried in my way to At that time the Indians say that the creek flowed into the lake at a point far west of where its mouth now is and indeed there are underground lines of gravel through the land which makes us think that the story could be true.

lines of graved through the land which makes us think that the story could be carefully a support the control of the creek, you remember, thought of a during plan. He called some of the cheek, you remember, thought of a during plan. He called some of the other together and told them of it.

This young brave had been watching the creek and had seen that when there were heavy rains in the mountains and the water came roaring a little and what how the water heavy rains in the mountains and the water came roaring a little and wash out great hole in it banks. He thought that if the course a little and wash out great hole in it banks. He thought that if the course had been concluded that plan to the other braves, they were much control of the water. We want to we have the control of the water with the course of the called this plan to the other braves, they were much than the unforted this plan to be other braves, they were much water than the unforted this plan to the other braves, they were much than the world that the plan to the course of the called the plan to work the plan to the course of the called the plan to would find a channel to the cast.

This was in the early winter. How beans to make the plan. They

the east.

This was in the early winter. They began to make their plans. They sharpened poles of tough wood so they would be ready. At last there came a big storm. Rain fell for many days and the creek began to overflow it: banks.

banks. Out into the storm went the harves of the Habesapos with their shaperend poles, and while the Hoolunapos sat by free in their wignams rolarly step their may be an expensive of the Habesapos with their shaperend poles, and while the Hoolunapos sat by free in their wignam clarily step the time away, they worked with all their might and soon to their joy the water came running over the edge.

The current was so strong that soon it tore great holes through the bank and when the storm was over the main body of water was flowing in the new channel where if flows today.

You may be sure the Hoolunapos were very angry when they found how they had been inticked and there were many flerer fights between the level between the when the bank and when the start was the Hoolunapos were victorious and they always had plenty of lish thereafter.

# INDIAN GOLD

The Pomo Indians, like ourselves, used more than one material for money. Ordinary money was made of sea shells but a more valuable material was used for their best grade wampum.

hunting or fishing grounds.

Big Valley on the southwest of Clear Lake had two or three tribes which mingled freely with each other and also with those of the Scotts Valley, Upper Lake and Ukiah sections.

To the south and east of Mt. Konocti lived Indians who were not Pomos. They were more war like and were not very friendly with the Big Valley Indians. These tribes we now own a Sulphur Bank Indians.

one moment to be a look at the hideous sight before she fled to her mountain home. But that moment was fatal. The serpent lashed his ail out of the water and struck her a deadly blow. Other blows followed in quick succession until the beautiful fawn lay dead.

From that day to this no Indian has ever encamped upon the banks of the lake nor fliethed in its waters.

the lake nor fished in its waters.

The Indians tell another legend written by Douglas Evey and published in the National Motorist.

One day there bucks were standing on the side of the mountain when one cried out. The others looked where he pointed and saw a huge septent gliding through the lake. As the monster neared the store, a white from sprang from the timber and plunged into the water to be swallowed by the monster.

spraing from the tumoer and punged into the water oo es awalowed by the more and the control of the control of

giant serpent sweeping the lake.

So watch out, the next time you ride along Blue Lakes. If the clouds are hanging low and the air is chill, you may see the serpent. I'll be the first to congratulate you!

THE LEGEND OF THE HORSE When white men came to the valleys about Clear Lake, the country was inhabited by several tribes of Pomo Indians. These tribes were friendly with each other in many ways but differences often arose over hunting or fishing grounds.

--81--

Modern at this call it their gold. The material is a rare white rock which is somewhat soft. Some of it was found in the mountains between Lake County and Bodega Bay, but one ledge they found in the Lower Lake region.

Lake County and Bodega Bay, but one ledge they found in the Lower Lake region.

The process of fashioning wampum from this material was made a ceremonial. It was first placed in the fire until it yellowed a little and ceremonial. It was first placed in the fire until it yellowed a little and the process of the process of possible. When cool these were ground against harder rock, then turned until they were violantical in shape, and half an inch or less in the process of the process

#### INDIAN LUCY

in June of the year 1933, this writer visited Indian Lucy in her home in Scotts Valley. At the car came to a top outside her fense the stood in the second of the second outside her fense he stood in the second outside her fense he stood in the visitors might be.

She was about a fense the second outside her glasses to see who the visitors might be.

She was about and rather heavy. She wore a clean, pink gingham dress nicely starched and ironed and an apron over that. She looked wrinkled and very dark brown. Her hair, which hang straight to be stoodler, we will be the stoodler, which was the second of the stoodler, which was the second of the stoodler, which was the second of the second outside the second ou

When the ladies asked for a drink of the fine, cold we from her wird, the offered them a clean, green pottery pitcher advising men to rinse it out. "Magile be dusty."

As we sat visiting in her little room, we told her that we would lise to hear some stories of the early times. Super the most, known hand to her men to the stories of the early times. The stories is the stories of the control of

"Halk war and now chickens fight."

She was very happy to show us her baskets that were not yet finished and at least a doze fine patchwork quilts in different patterns. Two of and least a doze fine patchwork quilts in different patterns. Two of the patch of the pa

We said that we were sure that Indian Lucy would be a kind and friendly neighbor and surely anyone would be happier after a visit with

NOTE: Within a year Old Lucy had been called away to the Indian Happy Hunting Ground.

THE SPRING CEREMONIAL OF THE SULPHUR BANK INDIANS THE TONQUE STOCK

-83-

Annually at some time during the month of May, the Indians gathered near the shores of Clear Lake at what is know as Sulphur Bank for the great exemonial of the year. The date is set when the first wild tobacco plant of the season is found. (Tonqua is the Indian name for wild tobacco.)

AGRICULTURAL FACTS

Agriculture census of 1945 included more than 76 per cent of privately owned land in the county in the 991 farms listed. This represents a gain of 115 per cent in notice of farms and about 69,000 in total acreage in farms since the 1940, so, reflecting mostly the high warrine chemnad for agricultural productions, reflecting mostly the high warrine chemnad for agricultural production. The control of the 1940 control of 1940, \$14,164,557.00, while in 1944 cash from income totaled over \$32,800,000.00. In 1943 the Bartlett pear crop alones and \$2,800,000.00. In 1943 the Bartlett pear crop alones are seen as \$2,800,000.00. In 1943 the Bartlett pear crop alones are seen for the 30,607 tons sold. Dairy products are seen for the 1940 control of 194

1944.
Livestock products, especially sheep and wool, chickens, turkeys and
eggs rank high in the county's agricultural production, and in 1944, 12,
143 tons of alfalfa hay, 86,055 subsides of harly, 21,896 busheds of wheat,
and lesser amounts of vegetables, nuts and fruits were produced.

### MINING

Mineral production was valued at \$468,389,00 in 1944, with quicksilver accounting for \$430,000,00 of the total. Lake County ranks second in the state's production for quicksilver with about 25 per cent of the state's total production. In 1940, 6,033 flasks of this metal were produced, having a total value of \$31,043,726.00 this metal were produced, availage at total value of \$31,043,726.00 this

REFERENCE LIST

Acknowlegement of assistance B. J. Pardee H. M. Jones H. A. Jones H. A. Jones Mr. and Mrs. W. M. Nobles Mrs. Bilen Reurs Mrs. May Ellen Reves Mrs. Charlotte Rose Mrs. Milton Wambold Mrs. Luttida Mr. Luttida Mrs. Luttida Mrs. Luttida Mrs. Luttida Mrs. Luttida Mrs. Moung Wirt H. Young R. C. Brandit

is due:
Mr. and Mrs. W. D. Akers
Mrs. F. L. Allison
Col. C. M. Crawford
Mrs. R. L. Allison
Col. C. M. Crawford
Mrs. Alice Deacon
Madison B. Elliot
Mrs. Piora Gaster
Mrs. Bellot
Mrs. Piora Gaster
Mrs. Janes Keey
Mrs. Janes Keey
Mrs. Abe Koun
J. B. Laughlin
Miss Lily Marrin
D. F. McIntire
Laughlin
Mrs. Lily Marrin
J. B. Caughlin
Mrs. Lily Marrin
J. B. Caughlin
Mrs. George
Mrs. George
Mrs. George
Mrs. Janes Keey
M

lowis; the foreist where they shoot and tray the deer and rabbits; thevalleys where the clover and other plant foods grow. A great bonfrie is a
value of the clover and other plant foods grow. A great bonfrie is a
that and clower and the clover and other and there is a hush and
solominy as they silently seat themselves in a great circle around the
beaped up pile of food. At a signal the sweat house door is opened and the
clied men come out dressel of their ceremonial robes. (The men have been
their men in turn address their people, calling their attention to
everything in the great out-of-doors--the sun, the sky, the water, the trees,
the plants and to the food--everything provided for them by the Creat
Spirit for their use and enjoyment. They exhort them to be thankful and
grateful for all their blessings and to pray to the Creat Falther to make
spirit for their use and enjoyment. They exhort them to be thankful and
grateful for all their blessings and to pray to the Creat Falther to make
they may be pleasing to the Creat Falther. In the meantime the old men
faceds and helping them! I fore-eventy and at one side watching the new
lackers and helping them! I fore-eventy and at one side watching the
lackers and helping them! I fore-eventy and the side standards, and the counter. At the close the close the close the close of the side of the s

red coals.

It was a hard and fast rule in this tribe that for three months previous to this ceremonial, no person was allowed to destroy anything. No tree was cut down, only the broken branches were used for fuel; no deer or rabbit or mudhen was killed; no find were caught from the lake or streams; no flower was picked or herbs gathered. This was a period of conservation, exhowledgement to the Great Father for his goodness, and a practical demonstration that they would take care of what He gave this story was told by Harry Holmes, a chief of the Sulphur Bank tribes.

--85---